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Dear Mr Hoogervorst 

Discussion Paper DP/2017/1 Disclosure Initiative-Principles of Disclosure 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited is pleased to respond to the International Accounting 

Standards Board’s (‘the IASB’s’) Discussion Paper Disclosure Initiative-Principles of Disclosure 

(‘the DP’). We consider the Disclosure Initiative to be a project that the IASB should give high 

priority. We therefore welcome the IASB developing a discussion paper on disclosure.  

The Discussion Forum that launched the Disclosure Initiative has led to extensive efforts by 

preparers, auditors, investors and securities regulators to take steps to improve the quality of 

disclosures. We are not in the same position as we were in January 2013 and now is the time 

for the IASB to contribute to these efforts.  

Our overall impression is that the IASB has not made as much progress in its thinking as we 

were expecting. There is also an absence of analysis of current financial reporting or of the 

disclosure requirements in IFRS, an important step in identifying and agreeing on the problems 

the IASB is trying to address. 

The tone of the DP gives an impression that the IASB is trying to identify information that can, 

or should, be removed from financial statements. We see the appropriate objective as being to 

improve how effectively information is communicated to investors.  

The Disclosure Initiative has several threads. Unfortunately the DP does not pull the relevant 

threads together. For example, the lack of discussion about what information is essential to the 

primary financial statements makes it difficult to discuss the role of the notes. Yet the 
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discussions in the Primary Financial Statements project suggest that the IASB has no plans to 

consider that issue in that project. The development of disclosure requirements will suffer as a 

result.  

Focusing on the Financial Statements 

The foundation for corporate reporting is the general purpose financial statements that present 

fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity. The principles of 

disclosure project needs to focus on the financial statements and the requirements in IFRS.  

Not all investors read the financial statements or use them in the same way. Nevertheless, the 

financial statements underpin corporate reporting. Databases and corporate reports rely 

heavily on the financial statements. Improving financial statement disclosures will improve 

corporate reporting. 

The DP lacks any meaningful discussion on technology. Technology developments can improve 

how investors access financial statements, although technology will not compensate for 

deficiencies in the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements in IFRS. The 

relationship between the financial statements and electronic data sets drawn from those 

statements is not very well understood. The IASB has missed an opportunity to address this.  

Users and a judgement framework 

To improve disclosures it is important to understand the needs and characteristics of those who 

rely on general purpose financial statements and to have a judgement framework for 

determining what, and how, the information an entity has can be summarised and 

communicated to investors. The materiality framework is critical in this process.  

APMs 

Entities should be encouraged to provide information not specified in an IFRS if it enhances the 

financial statements and helps meet the disclosure objectives in IFRS.  

Alternative performance measures can have a purpose and are an important tool for entities 

presenting a complete and balanced view of their activities. But it is important to differentiate 

between information that is supplementary and helpful and information that is designed to 

draw attention away from, or undermine, the IFRS information.  

If the IASB specifies a measure but gives entities the freedom to define it in their own way the 

IASB is, in effect, pushing APMs into the financial statements, and sanctioning them as IFRS 

measures. When such measures are reported outside of the financial statements it will not 

always be clear how they were constructed. In contrast IFRS-defined measure are reasonably 

well understood.  

The IASB should consider how it can make IFRS-defined sub-totals more relevant, presumably 

as part of the Primary Financial Statements project. However, we see more merit in the IASB 

improving disclosure of information about the components of the summary measures such as 

unusual items, infrequent items and so on, rather than adding sub-totals.  
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Accounting policies 

The IASB should consider having an entity highlight the policies that those responsible for 

preparing the financial statements consider are the more critical or important policies, and 

explain why they consider them to be important.  

We encourage the IASB to work with the IAASB to reduce differences between the accounting 

and auditing standards in this area. We also think much of the language and thinking in ISA 260 

and ISA 701 could be used by the IASB in a replacement for IAS 1.  

It is not helpful to investors for entities to provide only a set of generic descriptions of IFRS 

requirements. But simply eliminating all more general information might not be the best 

approach. Deleting descriptions for immaterial items and re-drafting the remaining policies to 

explain more clearly how the entity has applied them is likely to leave only a relatively small 

number of policies for which the entity does not need to use judgement. For some items, such 

as revenue, the primary users may well want to know the policies in all cases.  

Specifying where accounting policies must be located is not necessary if it is clear what 

information should be provided and there are clear objectives around the purpose of providing 

the information.  

We think the IASB should undertake a more fundamental review of changes in policies, changes 

in estimates and error correction within the context of a broader discussion of comparability.  

Drafting of Standards 

It would be helpful if the IASB maintained a guide on drafting its Standards, to help ensure that 

they are written and structured more consistently.  

Whilst some general, centralised, disclosure objectives could be helpful it remains likely that 

the IASB will continue to need to include Standard-specific objectives and requirements. We 

strongly council the IASB not to develop a single disclosure standard, or consolidate disclosures 

into a set of disclosure standards. The disclosure requirements should be developed at the 

same time as the recognition and measurement requirements, rather than at the end of a 

project. Those disclosure requirements should be integrated with the recognition and 

measurement sections of each Standard, rather than presented in a separate disclosure 

section.  

Although using less prescriptive language is helpful, it is more important that the Standards 

have clear disclosure objectives so that the purpose of the disclosure is clear. Clear objectives 

are also better than more detailed disclosure requirements, which imply stricter and narrower 

requirements.  

The IASB should consider developing targeted transitional disclosure requirements for initial 

application of a Standard that have a natural sunset clause.  

The approach being developed by the staff of the NZ standard-setter holds a lot of promise and 

we urge the IASB to develop it further.  
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There are many examples in IFRS of disclosure requirements for which the drafting could be 

improved and we have provided some that emphasise particular points.  

Our detailed responses to the questions in the invitation to comment are included in the 

Appendix to this letter. 

If you have any questions concerning our comments, please do not hesitate to contact me in 

London at +44 (0) 20 7007 0884. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

Veronica Poole 

Global IFRS Leader 
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Section 1 Overview of the ‘disclosure problem’ and the objective of this 
project 

Question 1 

Paragraphs 1.5–1.8 describe the disclosure problem and provide an explanation of its causes. 

(a) Do you agree with this description of the disclosure problem and its causes? Why or why not? 
Do you think there are other factors contributing to the disclosure problem? 

(b) Do you agree that the development of disclosure principles in a general disclosure standard 
(ie either in amendments to IAS 1 or in a new general disclosure standard) would address the 
disclosure problem? Why or why not? 

Question 2 

Sections 2–7 discuss specific disclosure issues that have been identified by the Board and provide the 
Board’s preliminary views on how to address these issues. 

Are there any other disclosure issues that the Board has not identified in this Discussion Paper that you 
think should be addressed as part of this Principles of Disclosure project? What are they and why do you 
think they should be addressed? 

Our response 
 

Key messages 

The Discussion Forum that launched the Disclosure Initiative has led to extensive 
efforts by preparers, auditors, investors and securities regulators to take steps to 
improve the quality of disclosures. We are not in the same position as we were in 
January 2013 and now is the time for the IASB to contribute to these efforts. 
(Sections 1.1 Scope and 1.2 The disclosure Initiative) 

The tone of the DP gives an impression that the IASB is trying to identify 
information that can, or should, be removed from financial statements. We see the 
appropriate objective as being to improve how effectively information is 
communicated to investors. (1.2 The disclosure Initiative) 

The foundation for corporate reporting is the general purpose financial statements 
that present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an 
entity. The principles of disclosure project needs to focus on the financial 
statements and the requirements in IFRS. (Section 1.1 Scope) 

The Conceptual Framework, IAS 1 and the materiality Practice Statement (and 
much corporate law around the world) focus on presenting fairly the financial 
statements as a whole. The Disclosure Initiative needs to work with this in mind.  

Materiality is pivotal to decisions about disclosure. Materiality judgements help an 
entity summarise and filter all of the transactions in information it uses into a set of 
financial statements designed for an external investor. (Section 1.3 Judgement) 

Not all investors read the financial statements or use them in the same way. 
Nevertheless, the financial statements underpin corporate reporting and improving 
the financial statement disclosures will improve corporate reporting. (Section 1.1 
Scope) 
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Key messages 

The DP lacks any meaningful discussion on technology. 

Technology developments can improve how investors access financial statements, 
but technology will not compensate for deficiencies in the recognition, 
measurement and disclosure requirements in IFRS.  

The relationship between the financial statements and electronic data sets drawn 
from those statements is not very well understood. (Section 1.6 Technology) 

1.1 Scope 

The DP states that the likely outcome of the project is either an amended or replaced 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, with a particular emphasis on disclosures in the 

notes to the financial statements.  

This objective acknowledges that the IASB develops Standards and Interpretations that relate 

to the form and content of financial statements, and it is these Standards and Interpretations 

that are the focus of the DP. We agree. If the IASB wants to make a difference in disclosure 

requirements, it needs to focus on the Standards it develops. 

However, it is not always clear from reading the DP whether the IASB is analysing and 

discussing disclosure principles for a financial report, such as an annual report, or for a set of 

financial statements.1 The DP makes many references to financial reporting and its own central 

theme of Communication in Financial Reporting. Many of the concerns about disclosure that 

are mentioned in the DP, and that we observe in practice, apply to the broader annual report. 

In many countries, such as the UK, the financial statements constitute less than half of the 

annual report. We have also observed faster growth in content in those parts outside the 

financial statements than in the financial statements. It is important that the IASB focuses in 

this project on those matters that it has the ability to influence through its Standards.  

It is also important to accept that there are limits to the contribution that changes to disclosure 

in the financial statements can make to address perceived and real problems with the financial 

report as a whole. The transactions and circumstances of entities can be complex and 

sometimes the related accounting is complex. We should not expect people with no accounting 

or business background to be able to read, understand and challenge a set of financial 

statements (see Sections 1.5 and 6.2 of our response).  

Some investors do not read annual reports or the financial statements, and this has been the 

case for some time. Surveys in 1977 and 1997 show that, for the samples of investors in the 

surveys, the most read part of the financial statements was the Statement of Profit or Loss but 

that between 35 and 55 per cent of those investors do not read the notes to the financial 

statements at all.2 We would not be surprised if similar results were found today. Investors use 

                                                 
1 We use the term annual report to refer to annual financial statements or general purpose financial reports 
that are typically required to be presented by listed entities, including their equivalents such as a 10k filing with 
the US SEC. 
2 See, for example, The Corporate Report and the private shareholder: Lee and Tweedie twenty years on, 
S Bartlett and R Chandler, British Accounting Review, 1997, 29, 245-261. 
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a variety of sources of information to help them make investment decisions, including annual 

reports. They also use information in the press, analysts reports, data aggregators and other 

data feeds. Even if investors are not reading and analysing the financial statements themselves, 

the financial statements underpin all of those other sources.  

That is not to say that improvements cannot or should not be made to the financial statement 

disclosure requirements. We think that meaningful improvements can be made and that 

changes to the way the IASB develops and drafts IFRS disclosure requirements can make a 

significant contribution to that process. The financial statements underpin the annual report. If 

you get the financial statements right you will make a significant contribution to improving 

corporate reporting. 

We encourage the IASB to continue to engage with securities regulators to consider ways that 

the other parts of an annual report can be improved, and work with the financial statements. 

The IASB’s plan to revisit the Management Commentary Practice Statement could provide a 

good platform for considering broader issues such as integrated reporting, core and more and 

duplicate or conflicting financial reporting requirements. But that is beyond the scope of this 

DP. 

We also embrace the idea that financial statements can be tagged to extract structured 

electronic data, using data protocols such as the IFRS Taxonomy and XBRL. But we see this as a 

way of accessing the information in a set of financial statements. It is not a substitute for, or 

alternative way for thinking about, the preparation or presentation of the financial statements.   

Similarly we have seen developments that provide innovative ways to present financial 

statements. We see such innovation as having the potential to make information in the 

financial statements more accessible to investors. But even with these other ways of accessing 

or communicating information, the foundation is financial statements that present fairly the 

financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity. 

1.2 The disclosure Initiative 

The Disclosure Initiative was set up to work with preparers, auditors, investors and securities 

regulators to get a shared understanding of problems with the quality of disclosures in financial 

reports. The IASB’s proposition was that preparers, auditors, investors and securities regulators 

are all contributing to the “problem”, but so too are the IASB’s Standards.  

The IASB positioned itself as a body that could help foster behavioural change by developing 

non-mandatory guidance, amending existing Standards and changing how it writes new 

Standards.  

We supported the establishment of the Disclosure Initiative and see it as an important and high 

priority project.  

At the Discussion Forum that launched the Disclosure Initiative, the IASB challenged preparers, 

auditors, investors and securities regulators to make steps to improve the quality of disclosures. 

Many parties have responded and are meeting that challenge. The DP does not document or 

acknowledge this work, giving the impression that the IASB has developed the DP on the 
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assumption that we are in the same position as we were in January 2013. We think a lot has 

changed, and now is the time for the IASB to contribute to these efforts.  

Behavioural change and other initiatives  

We collected information from around our network on initiatives in their regions. The examples 

here are a sub-set of the initiatives that have taken place.  

In France, the regulator published in June 2015 a guide to offer companies practical suggestions 

for improving their financial statements. The AMF has undertaken a benchmarking of the 

implementation of the guide and has observed companies adopting a new presentation of the 

accounting principles, using more visual / graphical approaches and presenting information by 

themes. The length of the document also changed, with some companies having shorter 

reports.  

Regulators in Canada have initiatives that range from targeted guidance for disclosures 

pertaining to fair value measurement, going concern, future accounting standards and 

disclosure effectiveness. The Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) has a Continuous 

Disclosure Review program, with the goal of improving the completeness, quality and 

timeliness of continuous disclosure provided by reporting issuers. The CSA has also published a 

Consultation Paper 51-404 Considerations for Reducing Regulatory Burden for Non-Investment 

Fund Reporting Issuers, which examines ways to reduce the regulatory burden for non-

investment fund reporting issuers in the public markets, without compromising investor 

protection or the efficiency of the capital markets. Three of the options being considered are 

reducing some of the ongoing disclosure requirements, eliminating overlap in potentially 

duplicative regulatory requirements and enhancing the electronic delivery of documents. 

There have also been initiatives in the UK. As well as a focus on reducing clutter, the FRC’s 

review panel regularly identifies areas where it intends to focus on the quality and clarity of the 

disclosures, including uncertainties and estimates. Japan has an initiative to reduce overlapping 

disclosure requirements from different sources (company laws, financial instruments exchange 

legislation and stock exchange regulations). The New Zealand regulator has also been doing a 

lot of work in this area, including contributing and supporting the staff undertaking work 

included in this DP. 

We have also observed, and in some cases helped, individual entities improve their disclosures. 

Many of the IASB’s stakeholders have made extensive efforts to change behaviour and we are 

seeing positive changes. The IASB can take some credit for giving these efforts momentum 

through its Disclosure Initiative.   

Although this DP will elicit comments from regulators and other standard-setters, it would have 

been better if the IASB had undertaken a survey of this other work and learnt from the 

experiences of others. In a similar manner, the FASB has a projects on disclosure and aspects of 

the primary financial statements. It is unfortunate that the IASB seems reluctant to work with 

the FASB on a project as important as this. 

http://www.osc.gov.on.ca/en/SecuritiesLaw_csa_20170405_51-404_considerations-for-reducing-regulatory-burden.htm
http://www.osc.gov.on.ca/en/SecuritiesLaw_csa_20170405_51-404_considerations-for-reducing-regulatory-burden.htm
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The IAASB has undertaken work on revised audit opinions that are designed to improve the 

quality of the information in the report. Our comments in the section on accounting policies 

demonstrate that the DP would have benefitted from researching and working with the IAASB.  

It is also challenging for preparers to know what a good set of disclosures looks like. This is an 

area where the IASB could consider developing educational material, drawing together good 

examples from across the world. 

Analysis of financial statements 

We think it would have been helpful if the DP had included an analysis of financial statements, 

providing some descriptive statistics of financial statements so that we can get a reasonable 

picture of matters such as: 

(a) The amount of detail entities place in the primary financial statements; 

(b) An analysis of the notes, indicating which notes seem to occupy the most space; 

(c) The length of the financial statements relative to the annual report; 

(d) Examples and the extent of duplication within the annual report; 

(e) An analysis of the different ways entities organise their notes to the financial 

statements; 

(f) Examples of generic language that the IASB is concerned about. 

This type of analysis is important if we are to understand and agree on the disclosure related 

problems. If we do not agree that there is a problem it will be difficult to agree on a solution. As 

it stands, the DP simply makes statements about what the IASB has heard. As you will see from 

our comments, we think we understand some of these problems, but it would have been better 

if the DP had provided a strong, empirically supported, foundation for understanding the types 

of concerns the IASB is trying to address.   

There are many surveys that analyse annual reports or financial statements. Deloitte has 

several around its network such as Annual Report Insights 2016 (https://www.iasplus.com/en-

gb/publications/global/surveys/annual-report-insights-2016) 

We think it would also be helpful to identify duplicate requirements, to help understand 

whether they vary by country. The IASB could use the work of bodies such as the Canadian 

Securities Administrators (referred to above) and the efforts by the FASB and SEC to identify 

ways to reduce disclosure overlap.  

There is evidence that some local accounting and disclosure practices survive the adoption of 

IFRS. For example, almost all Australian and New Zealand listed entities use the direct method 

of presenting the statement of cash flows. This was a requirement before those jurisdictions 

adopted IFRS in 2005, and as well as persisting as the predominant practice after adoption of 

IFRS it also means that the additional related disclosures have persisted. In a similar vein, some 

jurisdictions had a requirement to present a net-debt reconciliation before they adopted IFRS. 

It is common for entities in those jurisdictions to continue to provide this information. These 

examples highlight the sticky nature of disclosures over time. Once information is included in a 

https://www.iasplus.com/en-gb/publications/global/surveys/annual-report-insights-2016
https://www.iasplus.com/en-gb/publications/global/surveys/annual-report-insights-2016
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set of financial statements it tends to become embedded, perhaps because preparers are 

concerned that investors will perceive this as taking information away or because investors in 

that jurisdiction value that information.  

The examples also suggest that there are likely to be differences in the information disclosed by 

entities in different jurisdictions.  

Analysis of IFRS 

We think it would have been helpful if the DP had included an analysis of the disclosure 

requirements in IFRS and identified: 

(a) good and bad examples of the way disclosure requirements are written; 

(b) Standards with good disclosure objectives, poorly worded or generic disclosure 

objectives, or missing any objectives; 

(c) Examples of inconsistencies between standards, such as missing attributes like 

restrictions on assets and different required formats or maturity periods; 

(d) Duplication of requirements. 

In other words, it would have been helpful if the IASB had set out the problems it thinks it has 

in the current Standards and why it thinks they are problems.  

We have provided some examples in the section dealing with the NZ staff proposals. (See 

Section 8.3 Examples where drafting could be improved) 

Objective of the initiative 

The IASB needs to be careful about how the objective of the disclosure initiative and, in this 

case, the principles of disclosure work is expressed. Some investors have expressed concerns 

that the IASB is trying to reduce the amount of information available to them. Those investors 

say that they would rather have the choice of using or ignoring the information themselves. 

There are too many references and inferences in the discussion paper that suggest that the 

length of the financial statements, or parts of them, is the problem and that shorter sets of 

financial statements are preferable. When this is combined with other projects in the disclosure 

initiative, such as the materiality guidance and the amendments to IAS 1 made in 2015, it can 

give an impression that the IASB is trying to identify information that can, or should, be 

removed from financial statements.  

In our Thinking Allowed publication on materiality we state:  

Although IFRS is an important source for identifying information that 
might need to be disclosed, it is not a requirement to disclose every item 
specified in an IFRS. If the information is not material it need not be 
disclosed. Although this has always been the case, the IASB amended IAS 1 
in 2014 to remove any doubt. The amended Standard now states that an 
entity “need not provide a specific disclosure required by an IFRS if the 
information resulting from that disclosure is not material. This is the case 
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even if the IFRS contains a list of specific requirements or describes them 
as minimum requirements.”3 

In its Financial Statements for the year to 31 December 2014, the IFRS 
Foundation did not provide a detailed reconciliation of its opening to 
closing property, plant and equipment, as set out in paragraph 73© of IAS 
16. Instead, the report simply states that “there have been no significant 
movements during 2014 other than depreciation.”  

However, it is also not appropriate to assume that disclosing only items 
specified in an IFRS is sufficient. Management needs to step back and 
ensure that the information provides a faithful and balanced summary 
about a particular matter. Is information beyond the items specified by an 
IFRS necessary to give a more complete picture? 

Management should consider whether the objective set out in an IFRS’s 
disclosure requirements are met. For some older standards the disclosure 
objectives are either unclear or absent. However, even in those cases it is 
generally possible to develop a reasonable sense of what the standard is 
trying to achieve.   

There is no discussion about how entities are supposed to be able to identify and fill 

information gaps. While it is important to ensure that information that is material to investors 

is not obscured by irrelevant information, preparers also need tools to help them identify gaps 

in the information specified in IFRS. 

The length of the annual report, and the financial statements, or parts of those reports can 

sometimes help identify areas where there might be a risk of overload. However, length by 

itself can be a poor proxy for assessing the effectiveness of the disclosures.  Although some of 

the suggestions in the DP could lead to less immaterial or boilerplate information being 

included in financial statements, other suggestions in the DP will almost certainly make a 

printed version of the financial statements lengthier.  

Sometimes it will be necessary to disclose a lot of information about a particular matter. As a 

report becomes lengthier it is important to ensure that the report can be navigated and that 

particularly important matters are highlighted.  

We see the appropriate objective as being to improve how effectively information is 

communicated to investors. 

1.3 Judgement 

Deciding what to disclose and how to disclose it requires judgement. The DP implies that many 

of the problems associated with disclosure are behavioural. The DP says that treating the 

disclosure requirements as a checklist is perceived to save time on preparation and reduce the 

risks of auditors, regulators and users challenging management’s judgement and assumptions. 

In addition, some stakeholders say that preparers are discouraged from exercising judgement. 

                                                 
3 IAS 1, paragraph 31.  
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Although behavioural issues are important, the tools preparers, auditors and regulators work 

with are fundamental—i.e. the Standards. It is the Standards that the IASB is responsible for. It 

is unfair to lay the blame on behavioural issues when the Standards are often written in a way 

that implies that there is very little discretion in how they must be applied. It is a particular 

concern that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 have boilerplate objectives and 

use prescriptive wording, even though these were both issued after these problems had been 

identified and discussed by the IASB as part of the development of this DP. 

The DP implies that the IASB acknowledges the lack of clarity in the disclosure sections and that 

the prescriptive nature of the wording associated with specific requirements are a particular 

problem.  

Materiality 

Materiality is pivotal to decisions about disclosure. The application of the concept of materiality 

requires judgement.  

Materiality judgements help an entity summarise and filter all of the transactions in 

information it uses into a set of financial statements designed for an external investor. See 

Figure 1)  

 Figure 1 

 

To make those decisions, management needs to: 

 Understand who its primary users are and the types of decisions they will use the 

financial statements to help them make. 

 Identify the information that is likely to be relevant to those users, and from this 

information set, work out what is material to them.  

 Present the information in a meaningful way that emphasises those matters of most 

interest to the primary users.  

 Step back and review the complete set of financial statements.4 

The Conceptual Framework, IAS 1 and the materiality Practice Statement (and much corporate 

law around the world) focus on presenting fairly the financial statements as a whole. Unless the 

                                                 
4 Deloitte, Thinking Allowed – Materiality (2016) 

All company transactions 
and data

Information reported 
to the governing body

Information reported 
to external users of the 

financial statements
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IASB plans to challenge that principle, which we would not support, the Disclosure Initiative 

needs to work with this in mind.  

1.4 Outcome of the DP 

We see the Principles of Disclosure part of the initiative as being focused on replacing part, or 

all, of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and the presentation and disclosure sections 

of current and new Standards. There is some overlap with other work on materiality and the 

Primary Financial Statements.  

The IASB needs to try to bring some of the threads of the disclosure initiative together. For 

example, it is proposing to amend the definition of material and will shortly issue a materiality 

practice statement. Yet the DP has several sections that discuss materiality and overlap with 

these other projects. In a similar manner, the IASB will soon propose some amendments to 

IAS 8 on the distinction between an accounting policy and an estimate. The DP has discussions 

on what makes an accounting policy material and how to disclose accounting policies and 

estimates. More fundamentally, the first staff papers on the Primary Financial Statements 

project overlap with the DP discussions on the structure and content of the income statement, 

including the presentation of EBIT and EBITDA.  

At the very least, the IASB needs to explain how the DP fits together with these other projects 

and how they will come together. 

1.5 Users 

It is very common to see the statement “investors say …” used in association with the design of 

financial reports and financial reporting standards. However, the reality is that different 

investors have different attributes and they do not all think alike.  

The level and nature of the analysis they undertake, and therefore how they use financial 

statements, can also differ. There will be retail and institutional investors as well as analysts 

and intermediaries (credit, buy-side and sell-side).  

Some of these users will dissect the data in the financial statements and combine it with their 

valuation or forecasting models. Others will focus on more on the management commentary or 

narrative sections of an annual report. Some users do not read the financial statements, relying 

instead on data provided by aggregators. Although data aggregators extract data from financial 

statements, they often adjust it and not much of the textual information, including accounting 

policies, is provided in their databases.  

In developing its principles of disclosure, we think it is essential that the IASB focus on general 

purpose financial statements and the contribution they make to broader corporate reporting.  

1.6 Technology 

The Discussion Paper barely acknowledges technology, and does not discuss its implications. 

Although we have emphasised that the principles of disclosure should focus on periodic 

reports, there are developments in technology that interact with the financial statements.  
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Website innovations 

There are advances in how entities can present their financial statements on their websites  

Across the Deloitte network, our firms undertake surveys of companies and company reports. 

We have observed many examples of entities experimenting with their reporting, such as new 

measures or innovative graphics, within their annual reports. It is the larger entities that are 

best placed to be innovative, because they often have more resources dedicated to corporate 

reporting.  

Some companies provide screens on their websites that provide summary financial statement 

data. A simple example could be a statement of financial position that is viewable without the 

need to scroll. If the reader wants to get more information about, say, the entity’s intangible 

assets a simple click (i.e. a hyperlink) takes the user to a new screen with more detailed 

information about those assets. The information might also be tagged to enable the user to 

bring together related information, such as the accounting policy, expense and asset 

information. There is very little today preventing entities from providing a broad range of 

information to a wide range of stakeholders. Nor are there many technical, legislative or 

practical barriers to companies providing information in innovative ways. The main barrier 

seems to be that entities are currently assessing that the benefits of innovating do not 

outweigh the costs.  

The IASB needs to keep these types of developments in mind when it writes its Standards. It 

would be better to avoid language that is almost exclusively associated with printed, linear 

versions of an annual report. For example, the idea of disclosing information together or 

adjacent to other information can mean quite different things when we move away from a 

linear printed set of financial statements to those presented on a website. Hyperlinks and click-

down links can ensure that information is related more effectively than it might be in a printed 

(or PDF) version.  

Advances in technology might create further ways in which to present and disclose information 

in financial statements. For example, content bars and text-search functions within an online 

electronic report might help users find information more quickly.  

We have seen a revolution in how the news provided by credible news services is accessed and 

consumed, but we have not seen equivalent developments in the provision of information by 

corporates. Just as developments in technology have changed the way we access, read and are 

fed news, we expect technology to change how investors, and others, access and consume 

corporate information. 

Tagged, structured data 

Regulators in some jurisdictions require, or are contemplating introducing requirements for, 

entities to file electronically tagged versions of the annual report.  

The IASB has incorporated the development of the IFRS Taxonomy into the Disclosure Initiative. 

Throughout the last few years members of the IASB, and many respondents to the IASB, have 

stressed that the Taxonomy must not undermine principles-based Standards. We are surprised 

that the DP does not consider the emergence of these filing requirements and explain how the 
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taxonomy and the principles of disclosure will work together. We consider that to be a 

significant shortcoming. 

As these structured data filing requirements become more common we might also see further 

web-site innovations because data protocols can allow data to be used across a wide variety of 

platforms for different purposes. In that way an entity can focus on communicating information 

rather than creating multiple versions of the same data. Entities that have innovative websites 

often have strong data protocols that allow them to render the information in different ways or 

change how the data are viewed.  

The financial statements versus data 

We stress that technology will not compensate for deficiencies in the recognition, 

measurement and disclosure requirements in IFRS. Website innovations and tagged structured 

data sets that capture this information are ways to communicate or give access to those 

financial statements.  

The materiality assessments that shape the disclosures in the financial statements focus on the 

financial statements as a whole. Thinking about the information in financial statements as 

simply being data makes it very difficult to apply materiality judgements because each data 

point becomes a discrete item. You need a context to be able to assess whether information is 

material otherwise every element specified in the IFRS taxonomy would be looked at in 

isolation. 

We think it is important that the language in the IASB’s Standards does not create a barrier that 

would prevent entities using technology to, for example, present their financial statements on a 

website. More importantly, our assessment is that the relationship between the financial 

statements and electronic data sets drawn from those statements is not very well understood. 

The DP could have contributed to that discussion.  
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Section 2 Principles of effective communication  

Question 3 

The Board’s preliminary view is that a set of principles of effective communication that entities should 
apply when preparing the financial statements as described in paragraph 2.6 should be developed. The 
Board has not reached a view on whether the principles of effective communication should be prescribed in 
a general disclosure standard or described in non-mandatory guidance. 

The Board is also of the preliminary view that it should develop non-mandatory guidance on the use of 
formatting in the financial statements that builds on the guidance outlined in paragraphs 2.20–2.22. 

(a) Do you agree that the Board should develop principles of effective communication that 
entities should apply when preparing the financial statements? Why or why not? 

(b) Do you agree with the principles listed in paragraph 2.6? Why or why not? If not, what 
alternative(s) do you suggest, and why? 

© Do you think that principles of effective communication that entities should apply when 
preparing the financial statements should be prescribed in a general disclosure standard or 
issued as non-mandatory guidance? 

(d) Do you think that non-mandatory guidance on the use of formatting in the financial 
statements should be developed? Why or why not? 

If you support the issuance of non-mandatory guidance in Questio©© and/or (d), please specify the form 
of non-mandatory guidance you suggest (see paragraph 2.13(a)–(c)) and give your reasoning. 

Our response 

The discussion on the use of appropriate formats is largely common sense, although it is very 

limited in terms of analysis. There have been many studies on effective communication and 

there have been many initiatives that have focused on communication that provide a much 

richer analysis than is provided in the DP.  

Key messages 

Including the principles for effective communication in a general disclosure 
Standard could be helpful, but this is as far as the IASB needs to go. (Section 2.1 
Form or location of communication guidance) 

A particular type of format, such as a table, should only be specified if the IASB has 
evidence that such a format improves how effectively information is communicated 
to investors. (Section 2.2 Incorporating the principles in IFRS) 

Simpler, plain language, and formats that make a document easier to read, can 
increase the length of a document significantly. (Section 2.3 Consequences of using 
simpler language and changing report formats) 

2.1 Form or location of communication guidance 

The DP sets out in paragraph 26 seven principles for effective communication. We think it 

would be helpful to include these principles in a general disclosure Standard, such as a 

replacement of IAS 1. But we think that this is as far as the IASB needs to go. We see little merit 

in the IASB investing time in creating more detailed application guidance that expands these 

principles. The accounting networks, professional bodies and securities regulators are already 

producing guidance. The IASB would only be duplicating much of this work. 
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If the IASB does choose to create any such guidance it should be non-mandatory education 

material that the due process requirements allow to be developed outside of the formal public 

consultation process. In other words, such material should not be in the form of a Standard or 

Practice Statement, but would fit more comfortably under the umbrella of the education 

initiative with the development of illustrative examples.   

Many of the plain language and communication initiatives we have observed have focused on 

the corporate report more generally, and particularly the management commentary. Although 

the principles of communication can be applied to the financial statements, they are technical 

documents and there will be limits to the extent to which the principles of communication can 

or should be expected to make them more helpful to investors.   

2.2 Incorporating the principles in IFRS 

Rather than producing separate guidance on communication, a better approach would be to 

use these principles when the Standards are written. For example, it would be appropriate for 

the IASB to specify in an IAS 1 replacement that the accounting policy disclosures should 

explain how the entity has applied the policies and which judgements were important.  

The current language in IAS 1 is passive, telling entities to “disclose the judgements … that have 

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.” (IAS 1.122) 

It would be better to require that an entity identify the matters for which judgement was 

required and explain what factors the entity considered and how and why it reached a 

particular conclusion.  

Specified formats 

The IASB already specifies formats in some cases. However, it is not clear that the IASB has 

developed clear principles for when a particular format is appropriate, or has evidence to 

support such an approach. For example, in IFRS 16 Leases there is a requirement to present 

some leases information in a tabular format even though the numbers are not related to each 

other or have characteristics that we normally associated with tables (see IFRS 16.91). Yet in 

paragraph 97 of the same Standard a requirement to provide a maturity analysis, which lends 

itself to a tabular format, has no format requirement. 

IFRS 16.91 makes it clear that a tabular format is a requirement, “unless another format is more 

appropriate.” However, there is no guidance or explanation on how that presumption can be 

rebutted. This is unhelpful and creates debates in practice about whether a slightly different 

format complies with the requirements in the Standard, such as whether it is permissible to 

include a particular disclosure in a sentence rather than in a table.   

It is important that the IASB specifies a particular type of format, such as a table, only if it is has 

evidence that specifying such a format improves how effectively information is communicated 

to investors. And if it does specify a format it must be clear when the format makes the 

communication of the information more effective and when another format is likely to be just 

as effective.  
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2.3 Consequences of using simpler language and changing report formats 

There have been other initiatives to simplify the language used in financial reports that the IASB 

could learn from. In 1998 the US SEC implemented a rule requiring firms to use plain English in 

their prospectus filings and encouraged the use of plain English in all filings and communication 

with shareholders. As part of the initiative the US SEC published A Plain English Handbook: How 

to create clear SEC disclosure documents. That document discusses how to improve the clarity 

of financial documents that are written for investors.   

There is evidence that the readability of SEC filings improved significantly after the 

requirements came into effect. However, the average number of words in the 10K filings 

increased by approximately 28% from the pre to post Plain English period—see T. Loughran and 

B. McDonald, Regulation and financial disclosure: The impact of plain English, Journal of 

Regulatory Economics (2014) 45: 94-113. Using simpler, plain language can make a document 

longer. Replacing short-hand specialist terms and acronyms with fuller but plainer explanations 

generally requires the use of more words. Similarly, making a document easier to read often 

involves adding white space, diagrams, tables, graphics and so on. All of these are likely to lead 

a document being longer. We think it is important that the IASB acknowledge that page counts 

can be a poor measure of readability and conciseness. It also re-emphasises our point that the 

project should not be about reducing the length of a set of financial statements, but about 

improving the effectiveness with which the information is communicated.  

Page counts are also less relevant if the report is being presented in a web-based format.  
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Section 3 Roles of the primary financial statements and the notes 

Question 4 

The Board’s preliminary views are that a general disclosure standard should: 

 specify that the ‘primary financial statements’ are the statements of financial position, financial 
performance, changes in equity and cash flows; 

 describe the role of primary financial statements and the implications of that role as set out in 
paragraphs 3.22 and 3.24; 

 describe the role of the notes as set out in paragraph 3.28, as well as provide examples of further 
explanatory and supplementary information, as referred to in paragraphs 3.26–3.27; and 

 include the guidance on the content of the notes proposed in paragraphs 7.3–7.7 of the 
Conceptual Framework Exposure Draft, as described in paragraph 3.7. 

In addition, the Board’s preliminary views are that: 

 it should not prescribe the meaning of ‘present’ as presented in the primary financial statements 
and the meaning of ‘disclose’ as disclosed in the notes; and 

 if it uses the terms ‘present’ and ‘disclose’ when describing where to provide information in the 
financial statements when subsequently drafting IFRS Standards, it should also specify the 
intended location as either ‘in the primary financial statements’ or ‘in the notes’. 

Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary views? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what do you 
suggest instead, and why? 

Our response 
 

Key messages 

Using primary financial statements as a collective term is common sense and 
common practice. (Section 3.1 Terminology ) 

The lack of discussion about what information is essential to the primary financial 
statements makes it difficult to discuss the role of the notes. Yet the discussions in 
the Primary Financial Statements project suggest that the IASB has no plans to 
consider that issue in that project. The development of disclosure requirements will 
suffer as a result. (Sections 3.2 Objective of the primary financial statements and 3.3 
The role of the notes) 

We welcome the commitment to use simple language to specify when information 
must be presented in the primary financial statements. (Section 3.4 Present and 
disclose) 

 Terminology 

Using primary financial statements as a collective term for the statements of financial position, 

comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows is common sense and common 

practice. 

 Objective of the primary financial statements 

This is a particularly difficult question to answer in the context of this DP because the IASB 

seems to have pushed this question into its separate project on Primary Financial Statements. It 

is difficult to discuss the role of the notes unless we understand how they work with the 
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primary financial statements. Providing additional guidance on the role of Primary Financial 

Statements and the notes is a necessary step prior to developing any form of principles of 

disclosure. The DP does not include a broader discussion about the relevance of the distinction 

between PFS and notes in the context of the increasing use of digital reporting. 

Having said that, we support the general description of the role of the primary financial 

statements in paragraph 3.22 although it would be difficult to disagree with such a general 

description. However, the IASB should be careful not to focus too much on the elements. 

Although assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are the building blocks for the primary 

financial statements, the primary financial statements should provide a structured summary of 

a business. They should give users a summary of the financial performance and a summary 

snap-shot of the financial position. They provide a rudimentary basis for investors to compare 

entities, because the statements have a similar basic structure. They should help a user 

understand the relative importance of the different components of its financial structure. In 

short, they are windows into the financial statements. 

It is not clear from the DP description, or the discussion, how much detail we should expect to 

see in each of the primary financial statements, or whether the IASB plans to be more 

prescriptive about this in its Standards. (We have additional comments in Section 3.4 Present 

and disclose) 

Having principles for how the primary financial statements should be structured and how much 

information they should provide is necessary if they are going to improve comparability 

between entities and over time and act as a window to the rest of the report. Too much detail 

and they could fail to provide an overview, too little and they will not provide sufficient insights 

to a user.  

The IASB has specific requirements in its Standards to display information in the primary 

financial statements, in IAS 1 and in several other Standards. Some Standards give the preparer 

a choice (such as IFRS 16 Leases). But there is no principle used by the IASB to determine when 

it will require information to be displayed in the primary financial statements or guidance for 

preparers on how to determine when they should display information there.  

 The role of the notes 

We agree with the general objective or the examples of explanatory information given in 

paragraphs 3.26 and 3.27 of the DP. We encourage the IASB not be prescriptive in setting the 

objective, or describing the content of, the notes. Any attempt to be definitive creates a risk 

that some types of information should not be permitted to be included in the notes. Although 

we want the notes to be focused on meeting and supporting the role of financial reporting 

there needs to be enough flexibility to ensure that helpful information is not left out because it 

does not fit comfortably in a list.   

Additionally, some of the information treated as being in the notes does not merely explain 

information in the primary financial statements, it provides new information—segment 

information and unrecognised risks, for example.  
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 Present and disclose 

We support the IASB not assuming that a preparer attributes special meaning to the terms 

present (display on the primary financial statements) and disclose (display in the notes). Some 

preparers do attribute these meanings, but we think this depends largely on the jurisdiction 

they are in.  

In practice, the IASB has been using these terms interchangeably and in many cases the IASB 

seems indifferent about whether the information is displayed in the primary financial 

statements or the notes. For example, IFRS 16 Leases has separate presentation and disclosure 

sections for each of the lessee and lessor requirements. Yet the first paragraph in the 

presentation section begins by stating that a lessee “shall either present in the statement of 

financial position, or disclose in the notes …”  

IFRS 16 provides no guidance for preparers about how they should determine whether to 

disclose right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately on the face of the primary financial 

statements or in the notes. We were expecting the DP to include a discussion on how the IASB 

should determine when an entity must present information separately on the face of the 

primary financial statements and what factors an entity should think about if the IASB provides 

a choice. That type of analysis would be appropriate for a general disclosure Standard.  

We are not confident that the Primary Financial Statements project will have such a discussion. 

The Board discussions in that project have jumped straight into consideration of individual line 

items, such as EBIT. Again, we think the more general discussion is important and the DP and 

the development of disclosure requirements suffer as a result.  

It must be clear when information that needs to be disclosed must be displayed in the primary 

financial statements rather than in the supporting notes.   
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Section 4 Location of information 

Question 5 

The Board’s preliminary view is that a general disclosure standard should include a principle that an entity 
can provide information that is necessary to comply with IFRS Standards outside financial statements if the 
information meets the requirements in paragraphs 4.9(a)–(c). 

(a) Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what 
alternative(s) do you suggest, and why? 

(b) Can you provide any examples of specific scenarios, other than those currently included in 
IFRS Standards (see paragraphs 4.3–4.4), for which you think an entity should or should not 
be able to provide information necessary to comply with IFRS Standards outside the financial 
statements? Why? Would those scenarios meet the criteria in paragraphs 4.9(a)–(c)? 

Question 6 

The Board’s preliminary view is that a general disclosure standard: 

 should not prohibit an entity from including information in its financial statements that it has 
identified as ‘non-IFRS information’, or by a similar labelling, to distinguish it from information 
necessary to comply with IFRS Standards; but 

 should include requirements about how an entity provides such information as described in 
paragraphs 4.38(a)–(c). 

Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what alternative(s) 
do you suggest, and why? 

Question 7 

The Board did not discuss whether any specific information—for example, information that is inconsistent 
with IFRS Standards—should be required to be identified as described in paragraphs 4.38(a)–(c) or should 
be prohibited from being included in the financial statements. 

Do you think the Board should prohibit the inclusion of any specific types of additional information in the 
financial statements? If so, which additional information, and why? 

Our response 
 

Key messages 

There are differing views on what constitutes non‑IFRS information and it would 
not be operational to prohibit the disclosure of non‑IFRS information within the 
financial statements. (Section 4.1 Non-GAAP information in the financial 
statements) 

A reader of an annual report should be able to differentiate, without difficulty, the 
financial statements from the information presented outside of those statements. 
(Section 4.1 Non-GAAP information in the financial statements) 

It should be permissible to have a cross-reference within the financial statements to 
information presented outside of those statements, but within the annual report. 
The IASB should provide guidelines to help entities establish principles that are 
appropriate. (Section 4.3 Cross-referencing) 
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4.1 Non-GAAP information in the financial statements 

The DP asserts that some entities “include information identified as ‘non-IFRS information’, ‘not 

part of the financial statements’, or using similar labelling, within their financial statements. 

This information might also be unaudited.” (Paragraph 4.27) 

Unfortunately, the DP does not provide any evidence of the extent of this problem or any 

examples from practice. The DP’s assertion is not consistent with our observations of practice. 

Entities do often provide within the annual report the types of information identified in 

paragraphs 4.27, but it tends to be presented outside of the financial statements. This could be 

for a variety of reasons, but entities seem to be aware of the need to protect the integrity of 

the financial statements. They may also prefer to have this type of information in the unaudited 

sections of the annual report. There are, of course exceptions. As the DP notes, it might simply 

be easier to include something like directors’ remuneration within the financial statements.  

We agree with the Board’s preliminary view that it would not be operational to prohibit the 

disclosure of non‑IFRS information within the financial statements. There are differing views on 

what constitutes non‑IFRS information. Some investors might consider that some information 

reported by an entity is relevant to an understanding of the financial statements whereas 

another investor might ignore it.   

There is also the fundamental issue of deciding whether a disclosure is non-IFRS or whether it is 

incremental information that enhances the financial statements. The New Zealand Staff 

examples are developed by placing more emphasis on the disclosure objectives, rather than 

relying on specified disclosures. If the IASB moves to develop its Standards in this way, which 

we support, it is inevitable that the Standards would rely less on specified disclosures and more 

on having an entity provide information that meets the objective. We would be concerned if 

the IASB attempted to introduce a requirement that “non-GAAP” information had to be 

labelled as such. We think the general requirements in IFRS and the sensible application of 

materiality principles are sufficient to ensure that the financial statements are not 

overwhelmed with non-GAAP information. In our comments on alternative performance 

measures (APMs) and non-GAAP information you will see that we have concerns about the IASB 

allowing some APMs to be reported within the financial statements. That could undermine the 

credibility of the financial statements. Those comments address the issues raised in Question 7 

of the DP. (See Section 5.1 of our response)  

IFRS already has requirements that are designed to protect the integrity of the financial 

statements. The principle that is important is that a reader of the annual report should be able 

to differentiate, without difficulty, the financial statements from the information presented 

outside of those statements. This extends to ensuring it is clear which information in the annual 

report has been audited.  

4.2 The Annual Report 

If the DP had raised concerns about the proliferation of information in annual reports, we 

would have shared those concerns. When people criticise financial reporting, they tend to be 

referring to the annual report as a whole, and not just the financial statements. The annual 
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report is a special document and needs to be understandable and complete on its own. In our 

publication Thinking Allowed: The Future of Corporate Reporting we state: 

For the annual report to retain its importance as a central part of the 
corporate reporting function it needs to have a clear objective and remain 
focused on investors.  They are its primary users.  

Our focus on investors does not in any way imply that other stakeholders 
are not entitled to information. However, the appropriate question is 
whether the annual report is the best, or even appropriate, means for 
communicating with those other stakeholders.   

We are concerned that the annual report has become a convenient 
depository for information that is not focused on investors, but is intended 
for other stakeholders. It is important to identify when an annual report is 
the most effective and efficient mechanism for providing information to 
the intended audience. The annual report might be a convenient 
mechanism for providing broader information, but its main focus should 
be on meeting the needs of investors.  

Regulators should protect the integrity of the annual report by ensuring 
that it remains focused primarily on investors. General purpose reporting 
is an important tool in a regulatory framework. However, it is important to 
understand its limitations and to seek cost-effective solutions for 
identified and agreed problems.  It is not clear that general purpose 
reports are the most effective or appropriate mechanism for achieving 
some of the broader policy goals referred to in this report. Other 
stakeholders are entitled to other information about the entity but the 
annual report is not necessarily the best, or even appropriate, means for 
communicating with those other stakeholders. 

As you can see, we are concerned that some regulators are undermining the integrity of the 

annual report by requiring entities to report information within that report that is not intended 

for investors.  

4.3 Cross-referencing 

On the basis that we see the annual report as being an important document, we support the 

Board’s preliminary view that it should be permissible to have a cross-reference within the 

financial statements to information presented outside of those statements, but within the 

annual report.  

Our caveat is that the financial statements are also important. IAS 1 defines a complete set of 

financial statements and states that they must “present fairly the financial position, financial 

performance and cash flows of an entity.” When cross-referencing is used it must not 

undermine the completeness of the financial statements or make it difficult for a user to know 

which information has been audited. It would be helpful if the IAS 1 replacement made it clear 

when cross-referencing is inappropriate and the circumstances when it can be used. For 

example, we would not consider it appropriate to place any of the primary financial statements 

in the management commentary with only a cross-reference in the financial statements. But it 

might be appropriate to include the segment information in the management commentary to 
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tie it into the commentary. The IASB should provide guidelines to help entities establish 

principles that are appropriate.  

However, we emphasise again that this should not just be about reducing duplication or 

reducing the length of an annual report. Sometimes it is better to repeat information if it is 

essential to understand different matters (ie. the same information is used within different 

contexts). Whether including IFRS information outside the financial statements would make the 

annual report as a whole ‘more understandable’ is a matter of judgement. 
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Section 5 Use of performance measures in the financial statements 

Question 8 

The Board’s preliminary views are that it should: 

 clarify that the following subtotals in the statement(s) of financial performance comply with IFRS 
Standards if such subtotals are presented in accordance with paragraphs 85–85B of IAS 1: 

 the presentation of an EBITDA subtotal if an entity uses the nature of expense method; and 

 the presentation of an EBIT subtotal under both a nature of expense method and a function of 
expense method. 

 develop definitions of, and requirements for, the presentation of unusual or infrequently 
occurring items in the statement(s) of financial performance, as described in paragraphs 5.26–
5.28. 

(a) Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary views? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what 
alternative action do you suggest, and why? 

(b) Should the Board prohibit the use of other terms to describe unusual and infrequently 
occurring items, for example, those discussed in paragraph 5.27? 

(c) Are there any other issues or requirements that the Board should consider in addition to 
those stated in paragraph 5.28 when developing requirements for the presentation of 
unusual or infrequently occurring items in the statement(s) of financial performance? 

The feedback on Question 8 will be considered as part of the Board’s Primary Financial Statements project. 

Question 9 

The Board’s preliminary view is that a general disclosure standard should describe how performance 
measures can be fairly presented in financial statements, as described in paragraph 5.34. 

Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what alternative 
action do you suggest, and why? 

Our response 

This section of the DP concerns us. Although the section is intended to focus on performance 

measures within the financial statements, we think that discussion needs to take place in a 

broader context. In particular, we need to understand the relationship between alternative 

performance measures (APMs), non-GAAP information and sub-totals permitted, or required, 

by IAS 1 and the discussions in the context of the Primary Financial Statements project. 

 

Key messages 

APMs can have a purpose and are an important tool for entities presenting a 
complete and balanced view of their activities.  

Entities should be encouraged to provide information not specified in an IFRS if it 
enhances the financial statements and helps meet the disclosure objective in the 
IFRS and it should not labelled as non-IFRS. 

It is important to differentiate between information that is supplementary and 
helpful and information that is designed to draw attention away from, or 
undermine, the IFRS information. (Section 5.1 Alternative Performance Measures) 
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Key messages 

If the IASB specifies a measure but gives entities the freedom to define it in their 
own way the IASB is, in effect, pushing APMs into the financial statements, and 
sanctioning them as IFRS measures. When such measures are reported outside of 
the financial statements it will not always be clear how they were constructed. In 
contrast IFRS-defined measure are reasonably well understood.  

The IASB should consider how it can make IFRS-defined summary measures more 
relevant, presumably as part of the Primary Financial Statements project. However, 
we see more merit in the IASB improving disclosure of information about the 
components of the summary measures such as unusual items, infrequent items and 
so on. (Section 5.2 The financial statements and other parts of the annual report) 

 

5.1 Alternative Performance Measures  

As we indicated in Section 4.1, entities should be encouraged to provide information not 

specified in an IFRS if it enhances the financial statements and helps meet the disclosure 

objective in the IFRS. In such cases, the fact that the information is not specified or defined in 

an IFRS should not cause it to be labelled as non-IFRS. 

It is important to differentiate between information that is supplementary and helpful and 

information that is designed to draw attention away from, or undermine, the IFRS information.  

APMs that contradict IFRS principles should not be allowed in the Financial Statements, 

whereas APMs that draw from, and are consistent with, IFRS principles should be permitted.   

It is also important to understand what is meant by an APM or non-IFRS (non-GAAP) measure. 

Some securities regulators have definitions (see Section 5.2 below). The APMs that we think 

investors and securities regulators are most concerned about are summary measures that are 

presented as alternatives to the summary measures required by IFRS. They are most commonly 

associate with financial performance, which is why the term APM is used. Adjusted profit 

figures such as “underlying earnings” or “core earnings” are sometimes presented as an 

alternative to the IFRS equivalent. There are some APMs that are not related to performance, 

such as net debt and normalised working capital  But it is the summary measures of 

performance that tend to attract the most attention. 

APMs can have a purpose and are an important tool for entities presenting a complete and 

balanced view of their activities. They are often necessary for investors to be able to 

understand an entity’s performance. There are good reasons for companies to supplement IFRS 

information. The key is to ensure that non-IFRS financial measures are part of good 

communication and do not undermine or confuse the GAAP information. 

Many entities present adjusted earnings figures that they use as the basis for assessing 

management performance. Some businesses also use the core or underlying earnings number 

for assessing management performance. Having different measures for different purposes can 

be appropriate. 
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The DP suggests that non-IFRS measures and subtotals in the income statement are 

systematically biased. We caution against developing disclosure requirements that rely on such 

a premise. Standards developed with anti-avoidance in mind have proven to be problematic.  

In our publication Thinking Allowed: Non-GAAP and Alternative performance measures we 

reported on the results of several surveys and reports. They show that reported non-IFRS profit 

is, on average, higher than the equivalent IFRS measure. Entities are likely to suffer from more 

unanticipated or unusual negative outcomes than benefit from positive ones. Even IFRS implies 

this. IAS 1.98 lists examples of activities that the IASB expects to lead to disaggregation from 

profit or loss. The examples are overwhelmingly related to expenses. Similarly, a major 

investment in a new activity will normally be reflected in the statement of financial position 

rather than the income statement when it takes place whereas closing down part of a business 

has immediate income consequences.   

What is important is to ensure that there is discipline around this process so that a primary user 

of the financial statements is able to be confident that the adjustments are not biased. We 

supported the changes the IASB made in December 2015 to IAS 1 to provide more discipline 

around the reporting of additional sub-totals. We have found those changes helpful.  

We also support the initiatives of securities regulators to get more discipline in the way APMs 

are reported outside of the financial statements. Although many securities regulators have 

initiatives in this area, we will refer mainly to those of ESMA and the US SEC—they are 

representative of the others.  

5.2 The financial statements and other parts of the annual report 

Although the words are slightly different, the ESMA and the SEC definitions of an APM are 

qualitatively the same. An APM is a financial measure other than a financial measure defined or 

specified in the accounting standards the entity applies. This means that ESMA and the SEC 

would not consider a financial measure defined in IFRS to be an APM. There is some debate 

about whether the “additional line items headings and subtotals” IAS 1.85 requires entities to 

display in the income statement, when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the 

entity’s financial performance, are specified or defined financial measures. But it would be easy 

to conclude that the additional totals are created by an entity and are not defined or specified 

by IFRS. 

The ESMA guidelines and the SEC regulations both allow entities to present APMs.  

ESMA states that its guidelines apply to APMs disclosed simultaneously in the management 

report and the financial statements. This means the principles in ESMA’s guidelines would apply 

to these additional subtotals, although entities do not need to reconcile those measures to the 

IFRS measures when they report them outside the financial statements.  

The SEC’s regulations prohibit filers from presenting non-GAAP financial measures on the face 

of their financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP or in the accompanying notes 

(Item 10 of Regulation S-K and Item 10 of Regulation S-B). A Foreign Private Issuer is allowed to 

include in its filings a non-GAAP financial measure that otherwise would be prohibited if, 

among other things, the non-GAAP financial measure is required or expressly permitted by the 
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standard setter that is responsible for establishing the GAAP used in the comp’ny's primary 

financial statements included in its filing with the Commission. A measure is expressly 

permitted if the particular measure is clearly and specifically identified as an acceptable 

measure by the standard setter that is responsible for establishing the GAAP used in the 

entity’s primary financial statements included in its filing with the Commission, or has explicit 

acceptance by the primary securities regulator in the foreign private issuer’s home country 

jurisdiction or market.  

As financial measures travel outside of the financial statements it is important that those 

relying on the information know whether it has been extracted unaltered from the (audited) 

financial statements or whether it has morphed into something else. Standard setters have 

responsibility for shaping the information in the financial statements. It should be obvious that 

you are looking at IFRS measures or numbers that have been adjusted in some way.  

With this in mind, we are concerned about the direction the DP suggests that the IASB should 

take, and the recent discussions in the Primary Financial Statements project where the IASB 

seems to be proposing to require, or allow, entities to create their own concept of operating 

profit. The early IASB discussions specify that this would be called Management’s Performance 

Measure. Also, the IASB is looking at adding an EBIT measure to the income statement, but 

taking a “principled approach” that might allow managers to determine what they mean by 

financing costs.  

If the IASB specifies a measure but gives entities the freedom to define it in their own way the 

IASB is, in effect, pushing APMs into the financial statements, and sanctioning them as IFRS 

measures. The problem this creates is that when such measures are reported outside of the 

financial statements the information about how they were constructed will not necessarily be 

understood. In contrast an IFRS measure has a standard definition.  

Instead the IASB should put its efforts into making IFRS-defined measures more relevant. This 

could include identifying a broader range of summary measures, both financial and non-

financial, that are helpful to investors.  

The IASB could consider why some securities regulators require entities to present some 

measures in particular ways, such as requiring that depreciation be included in cost of sales.  

If alternative performance measures are restricted to reports outside of the financial 

statements they would remain as exceptions and supplements to the IFRS measures and would 

carry their entity-specific explanations with them. The IASB should also discuss this with 

securities regulators and consider their views.  

Additional information 

Although we see additional IFRS-defined financial measures (sub-totals) as being potentially 

helpful, we see more merit in the IASB focusing its efforts on improving disclosure of 

information about the components of profit such as unusual items, infrequent items and so on.  

In our publication Thinking Allowed: Non-GAAP and Alternative performance measures we 

observed: 
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We need to learn from past actions of Standard-setters. In the 1980s 
several standard-setters required that abnormal and extraordinary items 
be separated from other components of income. Companies routinely 
reported earnings before extraordinary items.  

Those standards were steadily withdrawn, motivated by perceptions of 
financial reporting abuse by reporting entities – that gains were ordinary 
and losses were extraordinary. IAS 1 goes as far as prohibiting anything in 
the income statement being labelled as extraordinary. Entities are 
complying with this requirement, but all that we seem to have done is 
create similes for extraordinary, such as exceptional, unusual, non-
recurring, abnormal and one-off. 

There is evidence that one of the outcomes of this change was to reduce 
the amount of information companies disclosed in their annual reports. 
And, relatedly, the usefulness of the information in earnings 
announcements dropped. This was clearly not what the standard-setters 
set out to achieve.  

While we are not advocating having the IASB bring back a requirement to present earnings 

before extraordinary items, we do see merit in entities being required to provide information 

about particular components of earnings that, for example, have different time-series 

characteristics. The IASB could explore different ways to think about what makes components 

different by developing clearer principles for disaggregation (or aggregation) of information. 

For example, a component of earnings might be economically unusual because of its size or 

nature (such as frequency).  

The SEC Permits items to be labelled as being infrequent, but puts some discipline around that 

term. Entities are not allowed to adjust a non-GAAP performance measure to eliminate or 

smooth items identified as non-recurring, infrequent or unusual, when (1) the nature of the 

charge or gain is such that it is reasonably likely to recur within two years, or (2) there was a 

similar charge or gain within the prior two years.  
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Section 6 Disclosure of accounting policies  

Question 10 

The Board’s preliminary views are that: 

 a general disclosure standard should include requirements on determining which accounting 
policies to disclose as described in paragraph 6.16; and 

 the following guidance on the location of accounting policy disclosures should be included either 
in a general disclosure standard or in non-mandatory guidance (or in a combination of both): 

o the alternatives for locating accounting policy disclosures, as described in paragraphs 
6.22–6.24; and 

o the presumption that entities disclose information about significant judgements and 
assumptions adjacent to disclosures about related accounting policies, unless another 
organisation is more appropriate. 

(a) Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view that a general disclosure standard should 
include requirements on determining which accounting policies to disclose as described in 
paragraph 6.16? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what alternative proposal(s) do you 
suggest, and why? 

(b) Do you agree with the Board’s preliminary view on developing guidance on the location of 
accounting policy disclosures? Why or why not? Do you think this guidance should be 
included in a general disclosure standard or non-mandatory guidance (or in a combination of 
both)? Why? 

If you support the issuance of non-mandatory guidance in Question 10(b), please specify the form of non-
mandatory guidance you suggest (listed in paragraphs 2.13(a)–(c)) and give your reasoning. 

Our response 
 

Key messages 

We see little merit in creating three categories of accounting policies. Such 
categories create silos and debates about the labelling, and detract from the more 
important issue of determining what information is helpful to investors.  

The IASB should consider having an entity highlight the policies that those 
responsible for preparing the financial statements consider are the more critical or 
important policies, and explain why they consider them to be important.  

We encourage the IASB to work with the IAASB to reduce differences between the 
accounting and auditing standards. We also think much of the language and 
thinking in ISA 260 and ISA 701 could be used by the IASB in a replacement for 
IAS 1. (Section 6.1 Material accounting policies) 

It is not helpful for entities to provide only a set of generic descriptions of IFRS 
requirements. But simply eliminating all more general information might not be the 
best approach.  

Deleting descriptions for immaterial items and re-drafting the remaining policies to 
explain more clearly how the entity has applied them is likely to leave only a 
relatively small number of policies for which the entity does not need to use 
judgement.  

In some items, such as for revenue, the primary users may well want to know the 
policies in all cases. (Section 6.2 Generic descriptions of the IFRS requirements) 
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Key messages 

Specifying where accounting policies must be located is unnecessary if it is clear 
what information should be provided and there are clear objectives around the 
purpose of providing the information. (Section 6.3 Location of the material policies) 

We think the IASB should undertake a more fundamental review of changes 
policies, changes in estimates and error correction within the context of a broader 
discussion of comparability. (Section 6.4 Comparability) 

 
6.1 Material accounting policies 

We support the general thinking in the discussion paper about what makes an accounting 

policy material. However, the three-tiers over-complicate the analysis and are not necessary. 

The basic idea can be expressed more simply.  

If a reported item is material then the related accounting policy is also material. If the items are 

not material then the related policies are not material. 

If an accounting policy is material, an entity will need to disclose that policy and highlight those 

policies that have changed, allow some choice, are developed using the IAS hierarchy or require 

significant judgement or assumptions.  

We see little merit in creating three categories and labelling the policies using these category 

numbers. Such categories create silos and debates about the labelling, and detract from the 

more important issue of determining what information is helpful.  

Highlighted policies 

We agree that entities should highlight those policies that have changed, allow some choice, 

are developed using the IAS hierarchy or require significant judgement or assumptions.  

Accounting policies are only necessary because the primary basis for IFRS information is accrual 

accounting (Conceptual Framework OB17). It is accrual accounting that creates the accounting 

income process and departs from cash accounting, including allowing or requiring assets or 

liabilities to be measured at a current value. Investors are likely to be interested in the 

accounting policies that have the more significant accrual effects. 

The US SEC had a project in the 1990s that focused on having entities disclose their critical 

accounting policies in the MD&A. The SEC defines a critical accounting policy as follows:  

A critical accounting policy is one that is both very important to the 
portrayal of the company's financial condition and results, and requires 
management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. 

The SEC’s analysis suggested that any given entity was likely to have no more than 3 to 5 critical 

policies, and this is consistent with our observations. 
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This seems to be similar to the type of policy that would fall in the DP’s Category 1 policies. We 

think that the SEC’s definition is helpful because it emphasises the materiality of the item and 

subjectivity.   

The IASB should consider having an entity highlight the policies that those responsible for 

preparing the financial statements consider are the more critical or important policies, and 

explain why they consider them to be important. This would be consistent with the disclosures 

about accounting policies being tailored to the entity. Specifically, the IASB should consider 

using the SEC’s definition in a replacement of IAS 1.  

Auditing standards 

In our role as auditors we are already required to assess the selection and application of 

accounting policies and communicate our assessment to those charged with governance. 

International Standard on Auditing 260 (revised) Communication with Those Charged with 

Governance provides examples of the type of matter that needs to be communicated to those 

charged with governance (see ISA 260.16(a) and Appendix 2 of that Standard). The examples 

include the appropriateness of the accounting policies to the particular circumstances of the 

entity, having regard to the need to balance the cost of providing information with the likely 

benefit to users of the entity’s financial statements. This includes assessing the choices made by 

the entity when there are alternative accounting policies available to it and the effect of 

significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas (or those unique to an 

industry, particularly when there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus). 

We are also required to assess accounting estimates and how the entity has exercised 

judgement and the assumptions they have made.   

Our responsibilities do not stop with communicating to those charged with governance. We are 

also required to communicate key audit matters in our audit report (see ISA 701 

Communication Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor’s Report). Unsurprisingly, the 

matters communicated to the intended users of the financial statements are consistent with, 

and drawn from, our communications to those charged with governance. The longer form audit 

reports that we use today will often include our assessments of the nature of the underlying 

accounting policies, or the complexity or subjectivity involved in the selection and application of 

that policy by management. We might also draw attention to the disclosure of key 

assumptions, the disclosure of a range of possible outcomes, and other qualitative and 

quantitative disclosures relating to key sources of estimation uncertainty or critical accounting 

estimates (ISA 701.A40).  

The International Auditing Standards provide a helpful framework for thinking about the same 

accounting policy related issues that the DP is addressing. We are already making these 

assessments as part of our audit process and communicating information about those “critical 

policies” in our audit report. It makes sense for the assessments that the preparers and auditors 

are making to be aligned and for auditors to express an opinion on the judgements and 

decisions made by the entity rather than the auditors providing this assessment in their audit 

report.  
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The information communicated by the auditors to those charged with governance will be more 

extensive than the information communicated in the financial statements. This is because the 

reasons for providing information are different. The IASB should be aware that auditors are 

routinely communicating matters such as disclosures that are specified in a Standard that have 

not been included in the financial statements along with the reasons for that decision. 

Regulators often have access to these reports, which can provide them with comfort that the 

entity has made a particular disclosure decision on materiality grounds rather than omitting a 

disclosure through oversight. This is an example where securities regulators can work with 

entities and auditors to ensure that the disclosures are effective, without having to explain the 

decision process in the financial statements.  

We encourage the IASB to work with the IAASB to reduce differences between the accounting 

and auditing standards. We also think much of the language and thinking in ISA 260 and ISA 701 

could be used by the IASB in a replacement for IAS 1.  

6.2 Generic descriptions of the IFRS requirements 

One of the concerns expressed in the DP is that providing generic descriptions of the IFRS 

requirements without tailoring them to the circumstances of the entity is unhelpful. In many 

cases the main body of an accounting policy section is a summary of IFRS requirements. 

Many such sections are drawn from model financial statements, often those produced by 

accountancy firms such as those in the Deloitte network. The model financial statements were 

not designed for that purpose. We are reviewing the way we present our own model financial 

statements and we need to do more to help our clients understand the appropriate way to use 

the models as a resource when they prepare their financial statements.  

We do not think it is helpful for entities to provide only a set of generic descriptions of IFRS 

requirements. But simply eliminating all more general information might not be the best 

approach.  

Our assessment is that some accounting policy sections in financial statements include 

descriptions of policies that relate to transactions or activities that are not material to the 

entity (tier 3 in the language of the DP). These policies are not material and we agree with the 

Board’s view that “disclosing such accounting policies is unnecessary for the primary users to 

understand information in the financial statements.” If these policy statements are removed 

from the financial statements it leaves the accounting policies that relate to transactions and 

activities that are material to the entity.  

We also agree that entities should explain how they have applied those policies, rather than 

providing a simple summary of the IFRS requirements. However, not all of these policies will 

require judgement to be exercised. For some, the requirements are clear and the entity will not 

have an accounting policy choice available to it. We caution against assuming that these 

remaining generic accounting policy descriptions are always unhelpful, and should be 

eliminated. In the UK, the FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab found that “the policy on revenue is 

considered to always be significant.” (Lab project report, Accounting policies and integration of 

related financial information, July 2014). Presumably this is because revenue is important to 
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investors, and knowing that there is little manager discretion / judgement is helpful 

information. We encourage the IASB to speak to investors about this. 

There is also the more general question of whether the primary users need some generic 

descriptions of IFRS requirements. That question rests on what a reporting entity should 

assume about the primary user. 

Attributes of the intended users of financial statements 

The Conceptual Framework states that financial reports are prepared for “users who have a 

reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and who review and analyse the 

information diligently. (QC32). A reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities is 

not the same as having knowledge about the specific requirements in financial reporting 

standards. It would be helpful if the IASB made it clear what information a preparer is entitled 

to assume will be known to the primary users of the financial statements. ISA 320 Materiality in 

Planning and Performing an Audit sets out the attributes that it is reasonable for an auditor to 

assume that the users of the audit report and the intended users of the financial statements 

are expected to possess: 

(a)  Have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and accounting and a 

willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence; 

(b)  Understand that the financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of 

materiality. 

(c)  Recognize the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of 

estimates, judgment and the consideration of future events; and 

(d)  Make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial 

statements. 

Although this is a more detailed description of the attributes than is provided in the IASB’s 

Conceptual Framework, we think the two descriptions are qualitatively the same. The IAASB 

and the IASB assume that the intended users of the financial statements have a reasonable 

knowledge of accounting. However, a knowledge of accounting does not equate to a detailed 

knowledge of the specific requirements in IFRS or a jurisdictional GAAP.  

Our point is that you need to decide who the primary users of the financial statements are and 

if it is appropriate to assume that those users know the IFRS requirements.  

GAAP differences 

The need for information summarising IFRS requirements might also depend on the context in 

which the financial statements are presented. Many jurisdictions have more than one GAAP, 

with differences between the requirements. Should we expect every user of the financial 

statements to know the specific requirements of a particular GAAP?  

Although the IFRS Foundation’s analysis of jurisdictional profiles implies that there is a high 

level of global IFRS concordance, there are some differences in how the Standards have been 

incorporated into local requirements or described. For example, the EU applies “IFRSs as 

endorsed by the EU”, in New Zealand each Standard is a “New Zealand equivalent” and in 

Australia the Standards use a different numbering system. In some jurisdictions there are more 

subtle differences, such as carve-outs or delayed endorsement of particular standards. 
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Although these differences are not pervasive, a generic description of the requirements can 

help identify differences. In a world of global investment, there is a case for providing some 

generic information to give context to the financial statements.  

Summary 

We agree that presenting pages of boiler-plate descriptions of IFRS requirements is unhelpful to 

investors. As a first step, deleting descriptions that are immaterial could go a long way to 

reducing the extent of “boiler-plate” policies. Re-drafting the remaining policies to explain more 

clearly how the entity has applied them is likely to address the problem further.  

This should leave only a relatively small number of policies for which the entity does not need 

to use judgement. In some cases, such as for revenue, the primary users may well want to know 

the policies in all cases. We encourage the IASB to consult with a broad range of investors on 

this issue. 

There is nothing stopping an entity providing generic descriptions of IFRS requirements on its 

website, or referring them to the descriptions the IASB or networks like Deloitte provide. But 

that information is not material to the financial statements.  

6.3 Location of the material policies  

We note the Board’s preliminary view is that an entity can choose how it locates its accounting 

policies, but that information about significant judgements and assumptions made should be 

included adjacent to the related accounting policy (unless another organisation is more 

appropriate).  

We think that specifying where the information must be located is unnecessary if it is clear 

what information should be provided and there are clear objectives around the purpose of 

providing the information.  

The DP discussion on location also ignores the use of websites, hyperlinking, embedded text 

and other technology. It is possible to locate information adjacent to many items by using links 

or embedding explanations that are attached to key words. The idea of a “location” on a 

website is not the same as the notion used in the DP, where it seems to be limited to linear, 

paper-oriented presentation.   

6.4 Comparability 

We would have liked the DP to have included a richer discussion on comparability. After all, one 

of the objectives of the principles of disclosure project should be to help investors compare the 

financial statements of different entities (cross-sectional comparison) and the financial 

statements of an entity over time. 

A basic principle underpinning IFRS is that when two entities enter into similar transactions the 

accounting should also be similar. When entities manage their activities in different ways we 

should expect differences in their accounting. The financial reporting requirements, and the 

disclosures that go with them, should help an investor understand when differences in 
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accounting between two entities are caused by differences in how the activities are being 

undertaken.  

There are trade-offs. Allowing more management determined measures or giving flexibility for 

where information is disclosed can improve the quality of the information presented by a 

reporting entity but it might also reduce comparability between entities. The IASB changed 

IAS 1 to emphasise that entities should determine the most effective way of ordering the notes 

to the financial statements. Some of the initiatives to improve disclosure have resulted in 

entities presenting and explaining their accounting policies and judgements within the notes for 

particular activities rather than in a separate accounting policies section.  

None of these issues are considered in the DP.  

One of the other aspects of comparability is the ability to compare the financial statements of 

an entity over time. We have paid particular attention to this because of the IASB’s other 

projects. Specifically, the accounting for changes in estimates and accounting policies, and 

accounting for errors. In the next section we consider the effect the IASB’s actions are having 

on comparability over time.  

Judgement, estimates, assumptions and errors 

Estimates versus accounting policies 

We are surprised at the absence of any reference in the DP to the IASB’s proposed 

amendments to IAS 8 related to distinguishing between accounting policies and accounting 

estimates. In that proposal the IASB is attempting to clarify what makes an accounting policy 

different to an accounting estimate. It is clear from the Board’s discussions that have taken 

place in developing the IAS 8 proposal that the distinction in IFRS between a policy and an 

estimate is not well understood. The consequences of applying a change in accounting policy 

and changing an estimate can both involve judgement and assumptions.  

The initial recognition and measurement of an item could require the entity to make estimates. 

Presumably information about these estimates is also relevant to assessing how the entity has 

applied a policy. It therefore seems arbitrary to omit from the DP discussion, and the IASB’s 

preliminary view, any mention of estimates. We note that the NZASB Staff example on page 93 

of the DP does not make this distinction, referring to “methods and assumptions used for 

depreciating property, plant and equipment, such as estimated useful lives and residual values.” 

(emphasis added) 

The DP explains that the Board’s preliminary view is that information about the assumptions an 

entity has used and how it exercised judgement in selecting, where appropriate, and applying 

the accounting policies should be presented alongside the related policy. This seems to imply 

that the judgements and assumptions are attributes of the accounting policies. If they are 

attributes of the accounting policies then presenting them with the policies makes sense. 

Of course, this raises a more fundamental question about why changes in accruals that affect 

the carrying amount of assets or liabilities are treated differently depending on whether those 

changes relate to the selection of an accounting policy or how the policy has been applied. Any 
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material change in the accruals that is a consequence of the judgment made by, or choice 

available to, an entity should be of interest to investors.  

Errors 

Accounting errors are also required to be accounted for retrospectively. The December 2003 

Improvements Project changed how errors were accounted for. Prior to 2003, the focus was on 

fundamental errors—errors discovered in the current period that are of such significance that 

the financial statements of one or more prior periods can no longer be considered to have been 

reliable at the date of their issue. (See the 2002 version of IAS 8 Net Profit or Loss for the Period, 

Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies.) IAS 8 required that fundamental 

errors be identified separately and, as was the case with some of the consensus Standards 

issued by the IASCF, there were two acceptable accounting treatments. Fundamental errors 

were either accounted for retrospectively or the effect was recognised in the current period 

and reported separately. Any other errors were accounted for prospectively, along with 

changes in estimates. 

The changes made to IAS 8 in 2003 require material errors to be accounted for retrospectively, 

while changes in estimates have prospective accounting. This introduced an accounting tension 

in deciding whether a change is an error or a change in estimate. We have encountered 

examples where entities prefer to have a change in the useful economic life of property, plant 

and equipment classified as an error presumably because it pushes the additional depreciation 

expense into prior periods. They will argue that they failed to use reliable information in the 

earlier period. We also see cases where entities are accounting for immaterial errors 

retrospectively.  

The accounting consequences of poor judgement are accounted for in a fundamentally 

different way to a shift in judgement.  

Comparability 

Our discussion above highlights the different accounting requirements for changes in 

judgement and estimates, accounting policies and errors. As a principle, we think there should 

be a clear rationale for creating different accounting requirements for different attributes of 

accounting policies and estimates. Presumably one of the factors for determining the 

accounting for changes in estimates, or policies, or the correction of errors, is to enhance the 

comparability of information.  

The DP’s section on performance measures states that one of the current problems with the 

way entities present performance measures is that they change the way information is 

disclosed in the financial statements from period to period without considering that this makes 

it difficult for users of financial statements to make comparisons of that information with other 

entities or between reporting periods (DP 2.4(f)). Yet, retrospective accounting for changes in 

accounting policies or the correction of errors suffers from the same problem—they change the 

current period definitions and align the comparatives to be consistent with those changes.  

We do understand that retrospective accounting is designed to enhance trend analysis, and 

that is the reason the IASB removed the option in IAS 8 in 2003 that allowed prospective 



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 39 of 57 

accounting for fundamental errors. However, there is a tension between the assertion in the DP 

that changing how current information is presented and restating comparatives undermines 

comparability with the principle in IAS 8 that this approach enhances comparability.  

The IASB has not helped by creating so many exceptions to IAS 8 in its transitional provisions for 

new and amended standards. Since 2005 almost half of the promulgated changes in accounting 

policies did not require the restatement of comparative information, particularly when the 

changes related to measurement. It is clear that users of financial statements cannot assume 

that they have the trend analysis that the changes to IAS 8 were designed to provide.  

The IASB’s outreach and analysis in developing the DP showed that both users and preparers 

were willing to consider alternatives for how changes in accounting policies could be presented 

in financial statements (Staff paper 11D discussed by the IASB at its June 2015 meeting). Yet 

none of this analysis is in the DP. We are disappointed that the IASB did not include a discussion 

of estimates, policies and the merits of retrospective and prospective accounting in the DP. A 

discussion paper is the right place to raise and analyse these types of issue. Instead, the IASB is 

pushing ahead with amendments to IAS 8 on the distinction between accounting policies and 

estimates and is also considering allowing more prospective accounting.  

Instead, we think the IASB should undertake a more fundamental review of changes policies, 

changes in estimates and error correction within the context of a broader discussion of 

comparability. When the IASB departs from the default requirement for full retrospective 

accounting for a new Standard, the IASB could develop targeted transitional disclosure 

requirements. Investors might find information that explains the effects of a change in 

accounting policy more helpful than the information provided by the different transitional 

concessions that the IASB often provides.  
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Section 7 Centralised disclosure objectives  

Question 11 

The Board’s preliminary view is that it should develop a central set of disclosure objectives (centralised 
disclosure objectives) that consider the objective of financial statements and the role of the notes. 

Centralised disclosure objectives could be used by the Board as a basis for developing disclosure objectives 
and requirements in Standards that are more unified and better linked to the overall objective of financial 
statements. 

Do you agree that the Board should develop centralised disclosure objectives? Why or why not? If you do 
not agree, what alternative do you suggest, and why? 

Question 12 

The Board has identified, but not formed any preliminary views about, the following two methods that 
could be used for developing centralised disclosure objectives and therefore used as the basis for 
developing and organising disclosure objectives and requirements in Standards: 

 focusing on the different types of information disclosed about an entity’s assets, liabilities, 
equity, income and expenses (Method A); or 

 focusing on information about an entity’s activities to better reflect how users commonly assess 
the prospects for future net cash inflows to an entity and management’s stewardship of that 
entity’s resources (Method B). 

(a) Which of these methods do you support, and why? 

(b) Can you think of any other methods that could be used? If you support a different method, 
please describe your method and explain why you think it might be preferable to the 
methods described in this section. 

Methods A and B are in the early stages of development and have not been discussed in detail by the 
Board. We will consider the feedback received on this Discussion Paper about how centralised disclosure 
objectives might best be developed before developing them further. 

Question 13 

Do you think that the Board should consider locating all disclosure objectives and requirements in IFRS 
Standards within a single Standard, or set of Standards, for disclosures? Why or why not? 

Our response 
 

Key messages 

Whilst some general, centralised, disclosure objectives could be helpful it remains 
likely that the IASB will continue to need to include Standard-specific objectives and 
requirements. There might also be good reasons for having different disclosure 
requirements for different types of assets or transactions—such as different assets 
having different attributes. (Section 7.2 Method A versus B) 
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Key messages 

We strongly council the IASB not to develop a single disclosure standard, or 
consolidate disclosures into a set of disclosure standards. The disclosure objectives 
and the specific disclosure requirements belong with the recognition and 
measurement requirements that those disclosures reflect.  

The disclosure requirements should be developed at the same time as the 
recognition and measurement requirements, rather than at the end of a project.  

Those disclosure requirements should be integrated with the recognition and 
measurement sections of each Standard, rather than presented in a separate 
disclosure section. (Section 7.4 Holistic disclosures) 

The IASB should consider developing targeted transitional disclosure requirements 
for initial application of a Standard that have a natural sunset clause. (Section 7.5 
Transition) 

It would be helpful if the IASB maintained a guide on drafting its Standards, to help 
ensure that the Standards are written and structured more consistently. (Sections 
7.3 Inconsistent and duplicated requirements and 7.6 A drafting guide) 

7.1 The problems 

The problems the IASB seems to be trying to address are: 

(a) Inconsistencies between and duplication of disclosure requirements; and 

(b) preparers focusing on individual standards in isolation and treating each as a check-list 

rather than stepping back and looking at the financial statements as a whole.  

We agree that these are issues that are contributing to poor disclosure. 

7.2 Method A versus B 

The DP sets out what it describes as different methods for developing centralised disclosure 

objectives, either focusing on an entity’s assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses 

(Method A) or focusing on information about its activities (Method B). We do not see these as 

being alternative approaches. Rather we would develop disclosure requirements that focus on 

an entity’s assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses so as to provide information about an 

entity’s activities. These are the building blocks that provide the foundations for the financial 

statement disclosures.  

The focus on “activities” such as operating capacity, segments, liquidity and capital structure is 

also relevant. However, developing basic disclosure requirements from the individual activities 

and elements of an entity does not preclude the IASB from developing Standards that bring 

some of these aspects together. We would expect the primary financial statement project to 

bring together the elements of a business to provide information about its activities. There is 

also a role for developing Standards that focus on some aspects of an entities activities. IFRS 7 

Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities both bring 

together some aspects of an entity’s activities. 
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Our approach is probably more consistent with what the DP describes as a “hybrid of Methods 

A and B.” However, we found the labelling of these approaches distracting because the DP 

implies that these are competing approaches. We see the methods as identifying important 

aspects of an entity that work together. 

7.3 Inconsistent and duplicated requirements 

During the discussions that led to the development of the DP, the IASB discussed duplication, 

inconsistencies and gaps in the disclosure requirements in its Standards.  

Whilst some general, centralised, disclosure objectives could help to reduce inconsistent 

disclosure requirements, it remains likely that the IASB will continue to need to include 

Standard-specific objectives and requirements. There might also be good reasons for having 

different disclosure requirements for different types of assets or transactions—such as 

different assets having different attributes.   

We suspect that many of the inconsistencies between Standards exist because they were 

developed at different times, with a different Board and staff. It is not clear whether the IASB 

has a drafting guide to help make the Standards more consistent. The differences in drafting 

style and structure of recently issues Standards and amendments suggest that the IASB does 

not have such a guide. We think it would be better to tackle the problem by having more 

consistent and careful drafting than relying on centralised disclosure requirements.  

Here are some simple examples that illustrate the point.  

Restrictions on assets 

Several Standards include a requirement to disclose any restrictions on the assets (see for 

example IAS 2.36(h), IAS 16.74, IAS 40.75(g) and IAS 41.49(a)). The wording is slightly different, 

for example IAS 2, IAS 16 and IAS 41 refer to assets being pledged as security, whereas IAS 40 

has no such reference. Presumably the IASB thinks that having a central and generic set of 

disclosure requirements will improve the consistency with which such requirements are 

expressed and avoid having to repeat the requirements in every Standard that deals with 

assets. 

We would support a replacement of IAS 1 including sections that set out some basic principles 

for common disclosure requirements, such as restrictions on assets. However, it will still be 

necessary to have “application guidance” in specific Standards that reflects the nature of the 

particular assets. 

Maturity analyses 

There are also inconsistencies in the way the IASB prescribes the periods for which information 

on maturities should be presented.  

IFRS 16 Leases requires lessees to present a maturity analysis for lease payments and lessors to 

present maturity analyses for the amounts receivable from finance and operating leases. Those 

requirements are not symmetrical.  
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Lessors are required to present a maturity analysis showing the undiscounted amounts to be 

received on an annual basis for a minimum of each of the first five years and a total of the 

amounts for the remaining years.  

Lessees are required to comply with IFRS 7’s liquidity risk disclosures. That Standard states that 

an entity needs to use its judgement in selecting time bands, but suggests bands of not later 

than one month; later than one month and not later than three months; later than three 

months and not later than one year; and later than one year and not later than five years 

(IFRS 7.39(a) and (b) and IFRS 7.B11).  

The asymmetry was introduced by IFRS 16. IAS 17 Leases has symmetrical disclosure 

requirements for lease commitments for lessees and lessors. That Standard requires entities to 

disclose operating and finance lease commitments for the next year, the aggregate for years 1 

to 5 and in aggregate for periods beyond 5 years. IAS 17 also states that entities are required to 

comply with the disclosure requirements in IFRS 7, but does not identify the specific paragraphs 

in IFRS 7. 

It is not clear to us why the IASB moved away from having symmetrical maturity analyses, 

particularly given that the disclosures were finalised at the same time that the IASB was 

debating the lack of consistency in disclosure. The question is whether a centralised disclosure 

standard would improve the consistency. 

We think it would be easy to over-engineer this even for something simple as maturity 

analyses, giving priority to consistency over quality.  

You need only look to IFRS 7 to see that, at the time it was developed, the IASB decided that 

different maturity bands might be appropriate for different type of financial instrument. Other 

sections of IFRS 7 suggest maturity analyses with time bands of not later than one month; later 

than one month and not later than three months; later than three months and not later than 

six months; later than six months and not later than one year; later than one year and not later 

than three years; later than three years and not later than five years; and more than five years 

(IFRS 7.B35). Importantly, IFRS 7 also acknowledges that there is a range of possible maturities. 

While it might seem attractive to have a consistent approach to maturity analyses, IFRS 7 

acknowledges that entities need to use judgement to determine an appropriate number of 

time bands in preparing the maturity analysis.  

7.4 Holistic disclosures 

The argument the DP seems to present is that having the disclosure requirements in a central 

location could help preparers think about the disclosures holistically. In our view, a centralised 

disclosure standard is unlikely to help with that problem, and could actually exacerbate it by 

separating and isolating the disclosures from the related recognition and measurement 

requirements.  

Disclosures are contextual and relate to the recognition and measurement requirements. It is 

fine to have some general requirements and objectives, but we will still need clarity about 
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specific elements or types of transactions. A centralised disclosure Standard could fracture the 

relationship between recognition and measurement.  

When our global and national technical advisory functions consider a matter related to 

disclosure, we do so within the context of the general objectives of the Standard. This helps us 

decide whether the information likely to be helpful to investors—both in terms of whether the 

information is necessary and sufficient. We could not make this assessment without also 

considering the related recognition and measurement requirements.  

We would go further.  

Integrated disclosure requirements 

We think the IASB should consider replacing the separate disclosure section within each 

Standard with integrated disclosure requirements.  

The separate disclosure section simply creates a check-list within a Standard.   

By having the disclosures presented in conjunction with the recognition and measurement 

requirements, it is more likely that the IASB will be able to explain in the Standard the purpose 

of a particular disclosure requirement. This is consistent with having objectives-based 

disclosures and it disrupts the checklist approach. It is also important that preparers think 

about the disclosures as an integral part of the reporting requirements, not as an afterthought.  

There might be some disclosures that are better presented together, to provide more complete 

information about a particular matter. This could still be stated as a requirement, and would 

highlight that the IASB thinks the information should be presented together. However, we 

strongly council the IASB not to develop a single disclosure standard, or consolidate disclosures 

into a set of disclosure standards. The disclosure objectives and the specific disclosure 

requirements belong with the recognition and measurement requirements that those 

disclosures reflect. 

If the IASB is concerned that this makes the disclosure requirements disjointed, it could create 

an appendix that collates those requirements, if it considers that to be helpful. There is also 

nothing preventing the IASB from publishing in electronic or printed form a separate summary 

of all of its disclosure requirements. It has the tools available to it today—a taxonomy and the 

Standards. We would expect the IASB to maintain its own checklist for internal purposes, so 

that it can see the overall requirements and identify inconsistencies and overlaps.  

Most accounting firms, regulators and even preparers already have such lists and they will 

continue to be produced no matter how the IASB writes its Standards. This simply emphasises 

to us that the IASB should write Standards in the way that is most likely to encourage preparers 

to think about disclosures when they think about recognition and measurement. Let others 

create checklists. 
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Development of the disclosure requirements 

Separating the disclosure requirements gives the impression that the disclosures are an 

afterthought, and our observation is that these are often discussed by the IASB late in the 

development of its Standards. 

We strongly encourage the IASB to discuss the disclosure requirements as it develops the 

relevant recognition or measurement part of a Standard. The IASB should think about what 

information the requirements it is developing will generate and what information is necessary 

to understand the judgements and uncertainties associated with that matter. Not only is that 

likely to help the IASB develop better disclosure objectives but it might help ensure that the 

recognition and measurement requirements are appropriate.   

7.5 Transition 

One area where the IASB could help is in the way it develops and presents disclosures related 

to the first time an entity applies new requirements.  

When a new requirement comes into force it can be appropriate to provide more information 

about the affected item than might be the case if the accounting treatment had been in place 

for a long time. Over time, we might expect to see the amount of information disclosed 

reducing as the requirements become better understood. However, as we indicated in our 

comments on the causes of disclosure “overload”, there is a lot of inertia in financial reporting. 

Our observation is that once entities start presenting information in their financial statements, 

they are often reluctant to remove the equivalent information in the financial statements in 

following periods.  

If the transitional disclosures were part of the transitional section (i.e. Section C) of the 

Standard, it might help disrupt that inertia. We note that the IASB has done this in IFRS 15 and 

IFRS 16 for some aspects of the transition provisions for those Standards. This is the type of 

integration we are advocating (Section 7.4). However, we think the IASB could do more to 

develop disclosure objectives that relate to the first time application of a Standard that are 

clearly designed to focus on the transition periods. This could encourage entities to adapt their 

disclosures as the accounting becomes more mature. This would provide a focus for explaining 

the effect of the change and provide a natural sunset clause for those targeted disclosures. 

The IASB should understand how inertia has affected its own publications. IAS 38 Intangible 

Assets was issued in 2004, replacing a version that was issued in 1998. Until this year, every 

annual publication has included an introduction that explained the main differences between 

the 1998 version and the 2004 version. That text remained in place for a long period of time 

even though its ongoing relevance was questionable.  

7.6 A drafting guide 

As we indicated above (Section 7.3) we think it would be helpful if the IASB maintained a guide 

on drafting its Standards, to help ensure that the Standards are written and structured more 

consistently. If the IASB already has such a guide, we think it would be helpful to make it public, 
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not to bind the IASB but to help those using IFRS understand the processes the IASB uses in 

developing what are important documents. 

Drafting suggestions 

If we were writing disclosure requirements in IFRS we would consider making changes to how 

the Standards are developed and written. Our suggestions, many of which are described in 

earlier sections of our response, are set out here.  

Development of the disclosure requirements 

 Develop the disclosure requirements at the same time the recognition and 

measurement requirements are developed.  

Structure of the Standards 

 Integrate the requirements with the relevant recognition and measurement 

requirements in each Standard. 

 Have special transition provisions for first time application of new requirements, 

making it clear that those transitional requirements create temporary disclosures. 

Drafting 

 Have clear objectives that relate to the recognition and measurement discussions so 

that preparers understand what type of information the primary users are likely to 

need, and why. 

 Avoid having only one illustrative example for a disclosure requirement if that example 

creates a perception that this is the preferred or only information likely to meet the 

disclosure objective, unless that is the clear intention of the illustration and, if that is 

the case, it might be best incorporated in the Standard.  

 Consider having several, possibly overlapping, illustrative examples to emphasise that 

there could be different ways to meet a particular disclosure objective.   

 Specify a particular format only if there is evidence that such a format provided better 

information, and also indicate how to rebut that presumption. 

 Use language that does not focus exclusively on linear formats such as paper or PDF.  

 Provide clear guidance on when information needs to be displayed separately in the 

primary financial statements. 

Review 

 At the end of the project, step back and review the package of disclosures for internal 

consistency and consistency with other standards. 

 Determine whether some information needs to be disclosed together, to give better 

context.  
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Section 8 New Zealand Accounting Standards Board staff’s approach to 

drafting disclosure requirements in IFRS Standards 

Question 14 

This section describes an approach that has been suggested by the NZASB staff for drafting disclosure 
objectives and requirements in IFRS Standards. 

(a) Do you have any comments on the NZASB staff’s approach to drafting disclosure objectives 
and requirements in IFRS Standards described in this section (the main features of the 
approach are summarised in paragraph 8.2 of this section)? 

(b) Do you think that the development of such an approach would encourage more effective 
disclosures? 

(c) Do you think the Board should consider the NZASB staff’s approach (or aspects of the 
approach) in its Standards-level Review of Disclosures project? Why or why not? 

Note that the Board is seeking feedback on the NZASB staff’s overall approach, rather than feedback on 
the detailed drafting of the paragraphs on the use of judgement in the NZASB staff’s example 1 or the 
detailed drafting of the specific disclosure requirements and objectives included in the NZASB staff’s 
examples 2 and 3. In addition, the Board is not seeking feedback on where specific disclosure objectives 
and requirements should be located in IFRS Standards (except as specifically requested in Question 13). 

Question 15 

Some stakeholders say that the way that disclosures are drafted in IFRS Standards might contribute to the 
‘disclosure problem’, as described in Section 1. Some cite in particular the absence of clear disclosure 
objectives and the presence of long lists of prescriptively written disclosure requirements in Standards (see 
paragraph 8.4). 

Nevertheless, other stakeholders observe that specific disclosure requirements might be simpler to use 
than applying judgement when determining how to meet disclosure objectives. 

Do you think the way the Board currently drafts IFRS Standards contributes to the disclosure problem? 
Please give your reasoning. If you think the current drafting contributes to the disclosure problem, please 
provide examples of where drafting in Standards could be improved and why. 

Our response 
 

Key messages 

Although using less prescriptive language is helpful, it is more important that the 
Standards have clear disclosure objectives so that the purpose of the disclosure is 
clear.  

Clear objectives are also better than more detailed disclosure requirements, which 
imply stricter and narrower requirements. (8.1 Drafting disclosure requirements) 

The approach being developed by the staff of the NZ standard-setter holds a lot of 
promise and we urge the IASB to develop it further. (Section 8.2 The NZ staff 
proposal) 

There are many examples in IFRS of disclosure requirements for which the drafting 
could be improved. (8.3 Examples where drafting could be improved) 
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8.1 Drafting disclosure requirements 

We agree that the way the Board currently drafts its Standards contributes to the ‘disclosure 

problem’. The main issue we have is that the purpose of the specific disclosure requirement is 

not always clear. If the Standard set out more clearly the type of information the disclosure was 

trying to provide, and for what purpose, it would help with materiality assessments and help 

determine whether the specific disclosure is meeting that objective. The language is often too 

prescriptive, but this is a secondary problem.  

The primary problem is the checklist nature of the requirements. This is one of the reasons we 

have recommended that the disclosures be integrated into the Standards. We think it will be 

easier to relate the disclosures back to the related recognition and measurement requirements. 

The purpose of the disclosure should become clearer. 

The responsibilities of the preparers and auditors are affected by the way the IFRS Standards 

are drafted. More detailed the requirements in Standards create greater burdens on preparers 

and auditors to comply strictly with the prescribed disclosures.  

We see clear objectives as being better than more detailed disclosure requirements. More 

detail implies stricter and narrower requirements.  

8.2 The NZ staff proposal 

We think the approach being developed by the staff of the NZ standard-setter holds a lot of 

promise and we urge the IASB to develop it further.  

Two tiers 

We think that the two-tier approach has merit. 

One way to think about the two-tier approach is that the tier-one disclosures are designed to 

give an overall (more complete) view of the different aspects of the business, including helping 

identify which aspects are the more important ones.  

That information is likely to be helpful to the users of the financial statements. Does the IASB 

anticipate that tier-one disclosures be required in almost all cases, except when the items are 

clearly immaterial or trivial? This might have some merit. It is arguable that the material 

information is not the summary numbers, but the relative importance of the components of the 

business. In other words, the fact that, say, pensions or share-based payments are not an 

important part of the business could be the material information. 

Materiality 

The DP lacks a discussion of how the two tiers tie in with materiality assessments. We think that 

analysis is important.  

The higher tier assessment seems to be about whether parts of the business or transactions or 

elements are material to the financial statements as a whole. The second tier, with the more 

detailed disclosures, seems to be about assessing what information is material to 

understanding that particular element. 
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There are other examples in IFRS where materiality decisions are linked to specific issues rather 

than the “financial statements (as a whole). In IAS 16.53 it suggests that there will be times 

when you can ignore residual value: 

The depreciable amount of an asset is determined after deducting its 
residual value. In practice, the residual value of an asset is often 
insignificant and therefore immaterial in the calculation of the depreciable 
amount. 

In this example the materiality assessment is not in relation to the financial statements as a 

whole. It is about whether it is material to the calculation of the depreciable amount. One of 

the other cases is IFRS 9.3.2.5 (c), which states that the entity “has an obligation to remit any 

cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material delay.” In that 

context it assumes that any delay is not material, not whether it affects the financial statements 

as a whole. 

This could be a more robust and helpful way for entities to thinking about a policy or to 

establish capitalisation thresholds. For example, an entity could set capitalisation thresholds by 

assessing whether it materially affects the depreciation expense. This would also be a more 

stable basis for making some materiality assessments. A capitalisation threshold should not 

have to be revisited in a year simply because profitability has fallen.    

The IASB could also use this approach more in setting Standards, in the same way that 

materiality is used in the IAS 16 and IFRS 9 examples. However, that would also require a 

change in the definition of materiality. The current definition of materiality implicitly relates to 

the financial statements as a whole. But we think this has promise, and could make it easier for 

entities to exercise judgement by thinking about how their judgement affects how a particular 

item is presented.  

Language 

The tone of the language is intended to be less prescriptive. We think this is helpful. However, it 

is more important that the Standards have clear disclosure objectives so that the purpose of 

the disclosure is clear.  

The IAS 16 redraft in the appendix of the DP highlights is a good example of the problems 

caused by the absence of a clear objective. We are not talking about generic objectives. The 

disclosure objectives in newer Standards such as IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 are held out as being 

objectives based. However, the objectives in IFRS 15 and 16 are boilerplate. The examples 

provided in the sample suggested re-drafts of IAS 16 and IFRS 3 are an improvement because 

they attempt to provide clearer primary and secondary objectives.  

We support the approach, but if the IASB wants to go back over older disclosure requirements 

that process might open up the Standards for a more fundamental review than the IASB would 

like. This is because, as we have emphasised throughout our comment letter, disclosures are 

contextual and must be related back to the recognition and measurement requirements. 
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8.3 Examples where drafting could be improved 

We reviewed the disclosure requirements in a sample of Standards and extracted examples 

where the drafting could be improved. We focused mainly on newer Standards because they 

are closer to the current work of the IASB. 

Passive language 

The DP notes how important it is for entities to relate accounting and estimation judgements to 

their particular circumstances. The requirements should be written to elicit this type of 

disclosure. Currently many of the requirements simply say “disclose”. Two examples are taken 

from IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.  

117  An entity shall disclose its significant accounting policies comprising: 

(a)  the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial statements; and 

(b)  the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of the financial 

statements. 

122  An entity shall disclose, along with its significant accounting policies or other notes, the 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see paragraph 125), that management 

has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

It is not surprising that entities simply list the policies and judgements, rather than explaining 

how they exercised their judgement.  

It would be better to state that an entity must identify which matters required the most 

judgement and to explain what factors it considered and how and why it reached a particular 

conclusion.  

Prescriptive language  

Several Standards use language that is prescriptive. Even though the amendments the IASB 

made to IAS 1 in 2015 clarify that specified disclosures are still subject to general materiality 

assessments, the language in some Standards remains unhelpful. In particular, IFRS 15 uses the 

terms all, any and both in many places. The terms suggest that they are all or nothing 

disclosures—i.e. all of a particular set of specified disclosures must be made to comply with the 

requirements. IFRS 15.110 is reproduced as an example, with those terms highlighted in bold:  

110  The objective of the disclosure requirements is for an entity to disclose sufficient information 

to enable users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and 

uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. To achieve that 

objective, an entity shall disclose qualitative and quantitative information about all of the 

following: 

(a)  its contracts with customers (see paragraphs 113–122); 

(b)  the significant judgements, and changes in the judgements, made in applying this 

Standard to those contracts (see paragraphs 123–126); and 

(c)  any assets recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer in 

accordance with paragraph 91 or 95 (see paragraphs 127–128). 

The tone used in the NZ Staff examples is more appropriate. 
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Boilerplate objectives 

The IASB has started to introduce disclosure objectives into recent Standards. However, many 

of these simply state that the objective is to provide information to enable users to assess or 

understand the effect of the accounting requirements in the particular Standard on the 

financial performance, position and cash flows of the entity.  

IFRS 15 

110  The objective of the disclosure requirements is for an entity to disclose sufficient information 

to enable users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and 

uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. … 

IFRS 16 

51 The objective of the disclosures is for lessees to disclose information in the notes that, 

together with the information provided in the statement of financial position, statement of 

profit or loss and statement of cash flows, gives a basis for users of financial statements to 

assess the effect that leases have on the financial position, financial performance and cash 

flows of the lessee. 

There is also an example of a poorly worded sub-objective in IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. 

102  The objective of the reconciliations in paragraphs 100–101 is to provide different types of 

information about the insurance service result. 

The objective is vacuous. It is clear that the reconciliations provide different types of 

information, but it is less clear from this statement for what informational purpose the 

reconciliations are required. The clarity of objectives will be critical to improving disclosure 

effectiveness. (See Error! Reference source not found. Drafting disclosure requirements)Error! 

Reference source not found. 

Lists 

Many of the older Standards do not have disclosure objectives and simply list the disclosure 

requirements. The absence of a disclosure objective makes it difficult to ascertain the type of 

assessment by an investor that the information is designed to support. A typical example can 

be found in IAS 2 Inventories: 

36  The financial statements shall disclose: 

(a)  the accounting policies adopted in measuring inventories, including the cost formula 

used; 

(b)  the total carrying amount of inventories and the carrying amount in classifications 

appropriate to the entity; 

(c)  the carrying amount of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell; 

(d)  the amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the period; 

(e)  the amount of any write-down of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in 

accordance with paragraph 34; 

(f)  the amount of any reversal of any write-down that is recognised as a reduction in the 

amount of inventories recognised as expense in the period in accordance with paragraph 

34; 
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(g)  the circumstances or events that led to the reversal of a write-down of inventories in 

accordance with paragraph 34; and 

(h)  the carrying amount of inventories pledged as security for liabilities. 

Present versus disclose 

As we have stated (See Section 3.2 Objective of the primary financial statements), the primary 

financial statements serve an important purpose. We also emphasised that preparers need 

guidance on when information should be presented separately in the primary financial 

statements, rather than in the accompanying notes.  

The IASB introduced separate presentation and disclosure sections in IFRS 14 Regulatory 

Deferral Accounts and has also done so in IFRS 15, 16 and 17.  

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Some Standards state clearly that an entity must disclose a particular measure as a separate 

line in the primary financial statements—eg IFRS 14 and IAS 1. It is not as clear in IFRS 15 

whether separate line items are required or whether the Standard is indicating how 

transactions should be classified. Paragraph 105 of that Standard states:  

105  When either party to a contract has performed, an entity shall present the contract in the 

statement of financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the 

relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s payment. An entity shall 

present any unconditional rights to consideration separately as a receivable. 

It is not clear whether the IASB expects the three measures to be disclosed separately or 

whether they can be included with other assets or liabilities.  

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 specifies that separate disclosure of some items is required, but gives an entity an 

unconstrained choice as to whether it needs to be displayed in the primary financial statements 

or the notes. That requirement is in a separate presentation section which, given the choice 

available, is redundant: 

47  A lessee shall either present in the statement of financial position, or disclose in the notes: 

(a) right-of-use assets separately from other assets. If a lessee does not present right-of-use 

assets separately in the statement of financial position, the lessee shall: 

(i) include right-of-use assets within the same line item as that within which the 

corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned; and 

(ii) disclose which line items in the statement of financial position include those right-of-

use assets. 

In the paragraphs that follow the Standard states that right-of-use assets that meet the 

definition of an investment property must be “presented as investment property.” This 

language is similar to that used in IFRS 15.105.  

48  The requirement in paragraph 47(a) does not apply to right-of-use assets that meet the 

definition of investment property, which shall be presented in the statement of financial 

position as investment property. 

In contrast, IFRS 16.50 refers to how an entity classifies cash flows: 
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50  In the statement of cash flows, a lessee shall classify: 

(a)  cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability within financing activities; 

(b)  cash payments for the interest portion of the lease liability applying the requirements in 

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows for interest paid; and 

(c)  short-term lease payments, payments for leases of low-value assets and variable lease 

payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability within operating 

activities. 

The use of different terms, present and classify, could be read to mean that the IASB intends to 

have different outcomes.  

The intervening paragraph, IFRS 16.49, refers to having to present interest on a lease liability 

separately from the depreciation expense on the right-of-use-asset. But the paragraph then 

states that the interest is a component of finance costs. There is no requirement in IFRS to 

present depreciation expense as a separate line in the income statement and we suspect the 

intention of IFRS 15.49 was not to require a separate line be presented for depreciation 

expense on the right-of-use-asset. 

49 In the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, a lessee shall present 

interest expense on the lease liability separately from the depreciation charge for the right-

of-use asset. Interest expense on the lease liability is a component of finance costs, which 

paragraph 82(b) of IAS 1 Presentation of IFRS 16 Financial Statements requires to be 

presented separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Formatting 

The IASB sometimes specifies a particular format for presenting information, particularly a 

tabular presentation. There can be good reasons for specifying a particular format. The IASB 

has been told by investors that they find information presented in tables helpful.  

IFRS 16.53 has a requirement to disclose 10 pieces of information that IFRS 16.54 says must be 

presented in a table.  

53  A lessee shall disclose the following amounts for the reporting period: 

(a)  depreciation charge for right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset; 

(b)  interest expense on lease liabilities; 

(c)  the expense relating to short-term leases accounted for applying paragraph 6. This 

expense need not include the expense relating to leases with a lease term of one month 

or less; 

(d)  the expense relating to leases of low-value assets accounted for applying paragraph 6. 

This expense shall not include the expense relating to short-term leases of low-value 

assets included in paragraph 53(c); 

(e)  the expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of 

lease liabilities; 

(f)  income from subleasing right-of-use assets; 

(g)  total cash outflow for leases; 

(h)  additions to right-of-use assets; 

(i)  gains or losses arising from sale and leaseback transactions; and 
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(j)  the carrying amount of right-of-use assets at the end of the reporting period by class of 

underlying asset. 

54  A lessee shall provide the disclosures specified in paragraph 53 in a tabular format, unless 

another format is more appropriate. The amounts disclosed shall include costs that a lessee 

has included in the carrying amount of another asset during the reporting period. 

 

This seems to be a simple list of disclosures. They do not sum, because they include income 

statement, financial position and cash flow measures. There seems little justification to require 

a table for numbers that the only common attribute is that they relate to leases. Such a format 

limits the ability of an entity to provide context or group them in more meaningful ways. As we 

observed in Section 2.2 Incorporating the principles in IFRS, the maturity analysis requirements 

in IFRS 16 are not required to be presented in tabular format even though they lend themselves 

to this format. 

Some of the measures required by IFRS 16.53 are, by virtue of IFRS 16.54, composite measures.  

IFRS 16.54, is the total of the right-of-use assets depreciated during the period, whether it is 

recognised as depreciation expense or included in other assets, such as inventory or 

constructed assets. Presumably the same principle applies to other items such as variable lease 

payments recognised as an expense or included in the cost of other assets. However, IFRS 16.53 

refers explicitly to “the expense” in 53 (c), (d) and (e), which conflicts with this principle—the 

amounts included in the cost of other assets is not an expense. The requirements could have 

been expressed more clearly, and it would be better not to add a measurement sentence at the 

end of a paragraph specifying the format.  

Context 

Paragraphs 97 to 109 of IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts set out disclosures that are designed to 

explain the amounts recognised amounts in relation to insurance contracts. The section relies 

heavily on cross references to indicate which paragraphs apply insurance contracts generally 

and which ones apply entities using the premium allocation approach.  

97  Of the disclosures required by paragraphs 98–109, only those in paragraphs 98–100 and 102–

105 apply to contracts to which the premium allocation approach has been applied. If an 

entity uses the premium allocation approach, it shall also disclose: 

(a) which of the criteria in paragraphs 53 and 69 it has satisfied; 

(b) whether it makes an adjustment for the time value of money and the effect of financial 

risk applying paragraphs 56 and 57(b); and 

(c) the method it has chosen to recognise insurance acquisition cash flows applying 

paragraph 59(a). 

98  An entity shall disclose reconciliations that show how the net carrying amounts of contracts 

within the scope of IFRS 17 changed during the period because of cash flows and income and 

expenses recognised in the statement(s) of financial performance. Separate reconciliations 

shall be disclosed for insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held. An entity 

shall adapt the requirements of paragraphs 100–109 to reflect the features of reinsurance 

contracts held that differ from insurance contracts issued; for example, the generation of 

expenses or reduction in expenses rather than revenue. 
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99  An entity shall provide enough information in the reconciliations to enable users of financial 

statements to identify changes from cash flows and amounts that are recognised in the 

statement(s) of financial performance. To comply with this requirement, an entity shall: 

(a)  disclose, in a table, the reconciliations set out in paragraphs 100–105; and 

(b)  for each reconciliation, present the net carrying amounts at the beginning and at the end 

of the period, disaggregated into a total for groups of contracts that are assets and a 

total for groups of contracts that are liabilities, that equal the amounts presented in the 

statement of financial position applying paragraph 78. 

100  An entity shall disclose reconciliations from the opening to the closing balances separately for 

each of: 

(a)  the net liabilities (or assets) for the remaining coverage component, excluding any loss 

component. 

(b)  any loss component (see paragraphs 47–52 and 57–58). 

(c)  the liabilities for incurred claims. For insurance contracts to which the premium 

allocation approach described in paragraphs 53–59 or 69–70 has been applied, an entity 

shall disclose separate reconciliations for: 

(i)  the estimates of the present value of the future cash flows; and 

(ii)  the risk adjustment for non-financial risk. 

101  For insurance contracts other than those to which the premium allocation approach 

described in paragraphs 53–59 or 69–70 has been applied, an entity shall also disclose 

reconciliations from the opening to the closing balances separately for each of: 

(a)  the estimates of the present value of the future cash flows; 

(b)  the risk adjustment for non-financial risk; and 

(c)  the contractual service margin. 

102  The objective of the reconciliations in paragraphs 100–101 is to provide different types of 

information about the insurance service result. 

103  An entity shall separately disclose in the reconciliations required in paragraph 100 each of the 

following amounts related to insurance services, if applicable: 

(a)  insurance revenue. 

(b)  insurance service expenses, showing separately: 

(i)  incurred claims (excluding investment components) and other incurred insurance 

service expenses; 

(ii)  amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows; 

(iii)  changes that relate to past service, ie changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to the 

liability for incurred claims; and 

(iv)  changes that relate to future service, ie losses on onerous groups of contracts and 

reversals of such losses. 

(c)  investment components excluded from insurance revenue and insurance service 

expenses. 

104  An entity shall separately disclose in the reconciliations required in paragraph 101 each of the 

following amounts related to insurance services, if applicable: 

(a)  changes that relate to future service, applying paragraphs B96–B118, showing 

separately: 
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(i)  changes in estimates that adjust the contractual service margin; 

(ii)  changes in estimates that do not adjust the contractual service margin, ie losses on 

groups of onerous contracts and reversals of such losses; and 

(iii)  the effects of contracts initially recognised in the period. 

(b)  changes that relate to current service, ie: 

(i)  the amount of the contractual service margin recognised in profit or loss to reflect 

the transfer of services; 

(ii)  the change in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that does not relate to future 

service or past service; and 

(iii)  experience adjustments (see paragraphs B96(a), B97(c) and B113(a)). 

(c) changes that relate to past service, ie changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to 

incurred claims (see paragraphs B97(b) and B113(a)). 

105  To complete the reconciliations in paragraphs 100–101, an entity shall also disclose 

separately each of the following amounts not related to insurance services provided in the 

period, if applicable: 

(a)  cash flows in the period, including: 

(i)  premiums received for insurance contracts issued (or paid for reinsurance contracts 

held); 

(ii)  insurance acquisition cash flows; and 

(iii)  incurred claims paid and other insurance service expenses paid for insurance 

contracts issued (or recovered under reinsurance contracts held), excluding 

insurance acquisition cash flows. 

(b)  the effect of changes in the risk of non-performance by the issuer of reinsurance 

contracts held; 

(c)  insurance finance income or expenses; and 

(d)  any additional line items that may be necessary to understand the change in the net 

carrying amount of the insurance contracts. 

106  For insurance contracts issued other than those to which the premium allocation approach 

described in paragraphs 53–59 has been applied, an entity shall disclose an analysis of the 

insurance revenue recognised in the period comprising: 

(a)  the amounts relating to the changes in the liability for remaining coverage as specified in 

paragraph B124, separately disclosing: 

(i)  the insurance service expenses incurred during the period as specified in paragraph 

B124(a); 

(ii)  the change in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, as specified in paragraph 

B124(b); and 

(iii)  the amount of the contractual service margin recognised in profit or loss because of 

the transfer of services in the period, as specified in paragraph B124(c). 

(b)  the allocation of the portion of the premiums that relate to the recovery of insurance 

acquisition cash flows. 

107  For insurance contracts other than those to which the premium allocation approach 

described in paragraphs 53–59 or 69–70 has been applied, an entity shall disclose the effect 

on the statement of financial position separately for insurance contracts issued and 
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reinsurance contracts held that are initially recognised in the period, showing their effect at 

initial recognition on: 

(a)  the estimates of the present value of future cash outflows, showing separately the 

amount of the insurance acquisition cash flows; 

(b) the estimates of the present value of future cash inflows; 

(c)  the risk adjustment for non-financial risk; and 

(d)  the contractual service margin. 

108  In the disclosures required by paragraph 107, an entity shall separately disclose amounts 

resulting from: 

(a)  contracts acquired from other entities in transfers of insurance contracts or business 

combinations; and 

(b)  groups of contracts that are onerous. 

109  For insurance contracts other than those to which the premium allocation approach 

described in paragraphs 53–59 or 69–70 has been applied, an entity shall disclose an 

explanation of when it expects to recognise the contractual service margin remaining at the 

end of the reporting period in profit or loss, either quantitatively, in appropriate time bands, 

or by providing qualitative information. Such information shall be provided separately for 

insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held. 

The disclosure requirements rely on a preparer referring back to the recognition and 

measurement sections. Each paragraph also has a scope sentence, indicating when it does not 

apply to contracts to which the premium allocation approach has been applied. 

We think the disclosure requirements would be clearer if they had been integrated with the 

relevant recognition and measurement sections. Although that approach would lead to some 

duplication in this case, because the Standard has an alternative treatment, such duplication is 

not inappropriate.  

The use of cross references can also be confusing. In the case of IFRS 17, the reference in 

paragraph 97 to paragraph 102 should be to paragraph 103. Paragraph 102 explains why there 

are two reconciliation requirements, yet this is not relevant to entities applying the premium 

allocation approach. Similarly, paragraph 97 states that paragraph 104 applies to contracts to 

which the premium allocation approach has been applied, yet that paragraph refers only to 

disclosures that do not apply in such cases. A similar issue can be found in paragraph 105. 

Although these drafting inconsistencies are not fatal, they could have been avoided by setting 

out the disclosures in the relevant recognition and measurement sections of the Standard. 

 

 

 


